6.1.4 OSC Rule 61-501 Insider Bids, Issuer Bids, Business Combinations and Related Party Transactions

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 61-501 INSIDER BIDS, ISSUER BIDS, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS¹ AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART TITLE

PART 1 INTERPRETATION

- 1.1 Definitions and Interpretations
- 1.2 Liquid Market
- 1.3 Transactions by Wholly-Owned Subsidiary Entity
- 1.4 Transactions by Underlying Operating Entity of Income Trust
- 1.5 Application to Act, Regulations and Other Rules

PART 2 INSIDER BIDS

- 2.1 Application
- 2.2 Disclosure
- 2.3 Formal Valuation
- 2.4 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement

PART 3 ISSUER BIDS

- 3.1 Application
- 3.2 Disclosure
- 3.3 Formal Valuation
- 3.4 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement

PART 4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

- 4.1 Application
- 4.2 Meeting and Information Circular
- 4.3 Formal Valuation
- 4.4 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement
- 4.5 Minority Approval
- 4.6 Exemptions from Minority Approval Requirement
- 4.7 Conditions for Relief from OBCA Requirements

PART 5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

- 5.1 Application
- 5.2 Material Change Report
- 5.3 Meeting and Information Circular
- 5.4 Formal Valuation
- 5.5 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement
- 5.6 Minority Approval
- 5.7 Exemptions from Minority Approval Requirement

PART 6 FORMAL VALUATIONS AND PRIOR VALUATIONS

- 6.1 Independence and Qualifications of Valuator
- 6.2 Disclosure Re Valuator
- 6.3 Subject Matter of Formal Valuation
- 6.4 Preparation of Formal Valuation
- 6.5 Summary of Formal Valuation
- 6.6 Filing of Formal Valuation
- 6.7 Valuator's Consent
- 6.8 Disclosure of Prior Valuation
- 6.9 Filing of Prior Valuation
- 6.10 Consent of Prior Valuator Not Required

PART 7 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

7.1 Independent Directors

¹

[&]quot;Business combination" has been substituted for "going private transaction" throughout the amended Rule.

PART 8 MINORITY APPROVAL

- 8.1 General
- 8.2 Second Step Business Combination

PART 9 EXEMPTION

9.1 Exemption

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 61-501 INSIDER BIDS, ISSUER BIDS, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

PART 1 INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions and Interpretations² - In this Rule

"affected security" means

- (a) for a business combination of an issuer, an equity security³ of the issuer in which the interest of a holder⁴ would be terminated as a consequence of the transaction, and
- (b) for a related party transaction of an issuer, an equity security of the issuer;

"affiliated entity": a person or company is considered to be an affiliated entity of another person or company if one is a subsidiary entity of the other or if both are subsidiary entities of the same person or company;⁵

"arm's length" has the meaning ascribed to that term in section 251 of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada), or any successor to that legislation, and, in addition to that meaning, an entity is deemed not to deal at arm's length with a related party of the entity;⁶

"associated entity", where used to indicate a relationship with an entity, has the meaning ascribed to the term "associate" in subsection 1(1) of the Act and also includes any person of which the entity beneficially owns voting securities carrying more than 10 per cent of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the person;⁷

"beneficially owns" includes direct or indirect beneficial ownership,⁸ and

- (a) despite subsection 1(6) of the Act, a person or company is not deemed to beneficially own securities that are beneficially owned by its affiliated entity, unless the affiliated entity is also its subsidiary entity,⁹ and
- (b) for the purposes of the definitions of control block holder and related party, section 90 of the Act applies in determining beneficial ownership of securities;

"bona fide lender" means a person or company that

- (a) holds securities sufficient to affect materially the control of an issuer
 - (i) solely as collateral for a debt under a written pledge agreement entered into by the person or company as a lender, or

² The definitions and interpretations in sections 1.1, 1.2, 1.4 and 1.5 of the current Rule have been combined alphabetically in a single section of the amended Rule to assist users of the Rule.

³ "Equity security" replaces "participating security" throughout the amended Rule because the definition of participating security in the current Rule is virtually identical to the definition of equity security in subsection 89(1) of the Act. Both terms are used in the current Rule.

⁴ "Holder" replaces "beneficial owner" in a number of parts of the amended Rule where it is not considered necessary or desirable to apply the broad legal concept of beneficial ownership.

⁵ The words "or if each of them is controlled by the same person or company" have been removed as not being strictly necessary, because that concept is incorporated in the words "both are subsidiary entities of the same person or company" in the definition.

⁶ Replaces section 1.4 of the current Rule and part of section 2.11 of the current Companion Policy to remove some of the subjectivity from the concept, particularly for transactions involving relatives.

⁷ New. The definition has been added to include a person, such as a partnership or trust, that would be an associate under clause (a) of the definition of "associate" in subsection 1(1) of the Act but for the fact that the person is not a company. "Associated entity" has been substituted for "associate" throughout the amended Rule.

⁸ The introductory words have been added to enable reduced repetition of the words "directly or indirectly" in the Rule.

⁹ New. Under subsection 1(6) of the Act, a company is deemed to own securities beneficially owned by its affiliates. Because "affiliates" include parent and sister companies, subsection 1(6) could have unintended consequences if applied to parts of the Rule, including the definitions of "issuer insider" and "subsidiary entity". This new provision in the amended Rule preserves the aspect of subsection 1(6) of the Act that should apply to the Rule, and it also covers subsidiary entities that are not companies.

- solely as collateral acquired under a written agreement by the person or company as an assignee or transferee of the debt and collateral referred to in subparagraph (i),
- (b) is not yet legally entitled to dispose of the securities for the purpose of applying proceeds of realization in repayment of the secured debt, and
- (c) was not a related party of the issuer at the time the pledge agreement referred to in subparagraph (a)(i) or the assignment or transfer referred to in subparagraph (a)(ii) was entered into;

"business combination"¹⁰ means, for an issuer, an amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation, amendment to the terms of a class of equity securities or any other transaction of the issuer, as a consequence of which the interest of a holder of an equity security of the issuer may be terminated without the holder's consent, regardless of whether the equity security is replaced with another security,¹¹ but does not include

- (a) an acquisition of an equity security of the issuer under a statutory right of compulsory acquisition,
- (b) a consolidation of securities that does not have the effect of terminating the interests of holders of equity securities of the issuer in those securities without their consent, through the elimination of post-consolidated fractional interests or otherwise, except to an extent that is nominal in the circumstances,¹²
- 13
- (c) a downstream transaction for the issuer,¹⁴ or
- (d) a transaction in which no person or company that is a related party of the issuer at the time the transaction is agreed to
 - (i) would, as a consequence of the transaction, directly or indirectly acquire the issuer or the business of the issuer, or combine with the issuer, through an amalgamation, arrangement or otherwise, whether alone or with joint actors,¹⁵
 - (ii) is a party to any connected transaction to the transaction,¹⁶ or
 - (iii) is entitled to receive, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the transaction
 - (A) consideration per security that is not identical in amount and form to the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of equity securities of the same class,¹⁷

¹⁶ New. This provision is intended to clarify the Rule's application where, for example, an amalgamation is carried out in conjunction with a sale of assets of one of the amalgamating issuers to a related party of that issuer. This has been an area of uncertainty under the current Rule. "Connected transactions" is a new defined term in the amended Rule.

¹⁷ Rewording of subparagraph (e)(i) of the definition in the current Rule. "General body of holders" has been substituted for "all other beneficial owners" throughout the amended Rule to prevent the Rule from applying in unintended circumstances. Without this change, for example, a transaction in which a non-related party acquired the issuer would technically be caught by the definition of "business combination" if that non-related party held only one equity security of the issuer prior to the acquisition, even if all the other security holders, including the related parties, were treated identically to each other. In addition to this change, equal treatment of

¹⁰ Substituted term for "going private transaction".

¹¹ The reference to involvement of a related party has been removed from the introductory words of the definition, as this subject is covered in paragraph (d) of the definition in the amended Rule (see also note 44). The last of the introductory words have been added to highlight the fact that the definition is not confined to transactions where holders of equity securities cease to be holders of publicly traded securities.

¹² Changed to include securities other than shares and to clarify the meaning of the paragraph.

¹³ Paragraphs (c) and (d) of the definition in the current Rule have been removed. The terms referred to in paragraph (c) are not normally attached to equity securities. Paragraph (d) is covered by subparagraph (d)(iii) of the definition in the amended Rule, to the extent that it should be covered.

¹⁴ New. "Downstream transaction" is a new defined term in the amended Rule. A downstream transaction does not give rise to the conflict of interest and disclosure issues the Rule is intended to address and therefore has been added to the list of exceptions in the definition of "business combination".

¹⁵ New. Paragraph (e) of the definition in the current Rule frames the exception for equal treatment of security holders primarily in terms of consideration received by related parties. This has caused some confusion regarding the categorization of transactions that are clearly intended to be caught by the definition, such as a transaction in which a related party takes the issuer private by acquiring all of the issuer, but does not receive greater consideration for securities of the issuer than other security holders.

- (B) a collateral benefit,¹⁸
- (C) consideration for securities of the issuer if those securities are neither equity securities nor employee stock options,¹⁹ or
- (D) consideration for securities of a class of equity securities of the issuer if the issuer has more than one outstanding class of equity securities, unless that consideration is not greater than the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of every other class of equity securities of the issuer in relation to the voting and financial participating interests in the issuer represented by the respective securities;²⁰

"class" includes a series of a class;

"collateral benefit", for a transaction of an issuer, means any benefit that a related party of the issuer is entitled to receive, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the transaction, including, without limitation, an increase in salary, a lump sum payment, a payment for surrendering stock options, or other enhancement in benefits related to past or future employment with the issuer or another entity, regardless of the existence of any offsetting costs to the related party or whether the benefit is provided, or agreed to, by the issuer or by another party to the transaction, but does not include

- (a) a payment or distribution per security that is identical in amount and form to the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of equity securities of the same class,
- (b) an enhancement of employee benefits resulting from participation by the related party in a group plan, other than an incentive plan, for employees of a successor to the business of the issuer, if the benefits provided by the group plan are reasonably consistent with customary industry practices and are generally provided to employees of the successor to the business of the issuer who hold positions of a similar nature to the position held by the related party, or
- (c) a benefit, not described in paragraph (b), that is received solely in connection with the past or future employment of the related party with the issuer, an affiliated entity of the issuer or a successor to the business of the issuer, if
 - (i) the conferring of the benefit is reasonably consistent with customary industry practices,
 - (ii) the conferring of the benefit is not conditional on the related party supporting the transaction in any manner,
 - (iii) related parties, and associated entities of related parties, of the issuer that are entitled to receive benefits described in this paragraph (c) do not, at the time the transaction is agreed to, whether alone or with joint actors, beneficially own or exercise control or direction over, in the aggregate, more than 10 per cent of the outstanding securities of any class of equity securities of the issuer, and
 - (iv) full particulars of the benefits described in this paragraph (c) are disclosed in any disclosure document sent to security holders of the issuer in connection with the transaction;²¹

"connected transactions" means two or more transactions that have at least one party in common, directly or indirectly, and

security holders is addressed in this clause and in a number of other parts of the amended Rule in terms of identical entitlement, rather than identical payment made, to reflect the fact that transactions often provide choices to the general body of security holders.

- ¹⁸ Replaces subparagraph (e)(ii) of the definition in the current Rule, which has been the subject of some uncertainty as to its application. The new provision is intended to clarify the definition as it relates to collateral benefits. "Collateral benefit" is a new defined term in the amended Rule.
- ¹⁹ Equity securities are covered in clauses (A) and (D), and employee stock options are addressed in clause (B) and the definition of "collateral benefit". See also the next note.
- ²⁰ Clauses (C) and (D) in the amended Rule replace subparagraph (e)(iii) in the current Rule and are intended to clarify the definition as it relates to multiple classes of securities. The application of clause (D) is discussed in subsection 2.1(2) of the amended Companion Policy.
- ²¹ New definition, intended to address the existing uncertainty regarding the regulatory treatment of collateral benefits under the Rule.

- (a) are negotiated or completed at approximately the same time, or
- (b) the completion of at least one of the transactions is conditional on the completion of each of the other transactions,

other than transactions relating solely to employment;²²

"control block holder" of an entity means a person or company, other than a bona fide lender, that, whether alone or with joint actors, beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over securities of the entity sufficient to affect materially the control of the entity, and in the absence of evidence to the contrary, beneficial ownership or control or direction over voting securities to which are attached more than 20 per cent of the votes attached to all of the outstanding voting securities of the entity is considered sufficient to affect materially the control of the entity;²³

"controlled": for the purposes only of the definition of "subsidiary entity", an entity is considered to be controlled by a person or company if

- (a) in the case of an entity that has directors
 - the person or company beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over voting securities of the entity carrying more than 50 per cent of the votes for the election of directors, and
 - (ii) the votes carried by the securities are entitled, if exercised, to elect a majority of the directors of the entity,
- (b) in the case of a partnership or other entity that does not have directors, other than a limited partnership, the person or company beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over more than 50 per cent of the interests in the partnership or other entity, or
- (c) in the case of an entity that is a limited partnership, the person or company is the general partner or controls the general partner within the meaning of paragraph (a) or (b);²⁴

"convertible" means convertible into, exchangeable for, or carrying the right to purchase or cause the purchase of, another security;²⁵

"director", for an issuer that is a limited partnership, includes a director of the general partner of the issuer, except for the purposes of the definition of "controlled",²⁶

"disclosure document" means

- (a) for an insider bid,
 - (i) a take-over bid circular sent to holders of offeree securities, or
 - (ii) if the insider bid takes the form of a stock exchange insider bid, the disclosure document sent to holders of offeree securities that is deemed to be a take-over bid circular under subsection 131(10) of the Act,
- (b) for an issuer bid,

²² New definition. The subject of connected transactions arises in a number of parts of the current Rule and Companion Policy, where they are referred to as "related transactions".

²³ The interpretation of the control block concept has been moved from subsection 1.1(2) of the current Rule and changed to a defined term to enable reduced repetition in the Rule, particularly in the definition of "related party". The "bona fide lender" exception in the definition of "related party transaction" in the current Rule has been moved to the definition of "control block holder".

²⁴ Minor changes have been made to the definition, primarily to cover the possibility that an entity other than a partnership might not have directors. Also, control of the general partner is considered to constitute control of the limited partnership under the amended Rule.

²⁵ New. Enables reduced repetition in the Rule.

²⁶ New. This provision transfers the concept in section 2.1 of the current Companion Policy into the Rule, to eliminate the uncertainty regarding the circumstances under which a director of the general partner of a limited partnership is considered to be a director of the limited partnership under the Rule.

- (i) an issuer bid circular sent to holders of offeree securities, or
- (ii) if the issuer bid takes the form of a stock exchange issuer bid, the disclosure document sent to holders of offeree securities that is deemed to be an issuer bid circular under subsection 131(10) of the Act,
- (c) for a business combination, an information circular sent to holders of affected securities, or, if no information circular is required, another document sent to holders of affected securities in connection with a meeting of holders of affected securities, and
- (d) for a related party transaction,
 - (i) an information circular sent to holders of affected securities,
 - (ii) if no information circular is required, another document sent to holders of affected securities in connection with a meeting of holders of affected securities, or
 - (iii) if no information circular or other document referred to in subparagraph (ii) is required, a material change report filed for the transaction;

"downstream transaction" means, for an issuer, a transaction between the issuer and a related party of the issuer if, at the time the transaction is agreed to

- (a) the issuer is a control block holder of the related party, and
- (b) to the knowledge of the issuer after reasonable inquiry, no related party of the issuer, other than a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer, beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over, other than through its interest in the issuer, more than five per cent of any class of voting or equity securities of the related party that is a party to the transaction;²⁷

"entity" means a person or company;²⁸

"equity security" has the meaning ascribed to that term in subsection 89(1) of the Act;²⁹

"fair market value" means, except as provided in paragraph 6.4(2)(d), the monetary consideration that, in an open and unrestricted market, a prudent and informed buyer would pay to a prudent and informed seller, each acting at arm's length with the other and under no compulsion to act;

"formal bid" has the meaning ascribed to that term in subsection 89(1) of the Act;

"formal valuation" means a valuation prepared in accordance with Part 6;³⁰

"freely tradeable" means, for securities, that

- (a) the securities are transferable,³¹
- (b) the securities are not subject to any escrow requirements,
- (c) the securities do not form part of the holdings of any person or company or combination of persons or companies referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition of "distribution" in the Act,

³¹ Changed from "not non-transferable".

²⁷ New definition. The concept is taken from paragraph 10 of section 5.6 of the current Rule, which is a formal valuation exemption for related party transactions. Downstream transactions have been explicitly excluded from the definition of "business combination" and from being subject to the requirements for related party transactions in the amended Rule.

²⁸ New. "Entity" has been substituted for "person or company" and other words in parts of the amended Rule to reduce verbiage or to increase clarity where a provision relates to more than one person or company.

²⁹ New. This cross-reference is not technically necessary but it has been added to assist users of the Rule, since the definition of "equity security" is not in the general definition section of the Act.

³⁰ The definition has been shortened by the removal of requirements that are in Part 6 of the amended Rule.

- (d) the securities are not subject to any cease trade order imposed by a Canadian securities regulatory authority,
- (e) all hold periods imposed by Canadian securities legislation before the securities can be traded without a prospectus or in reliance on a prospectus exemption have expired, and
- (f) any period of time imposed by Canadian securities legislation for which the issuer has to have been a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction before the securities can be traded without a prospectus or in reliance on a prospectus exemption has passed;³²

"incentive plan" means an employee group plan that provides for stock options or other equity incentives, profit sharing, bonuses, or other performance-based payments;³³

"independent committee" means, for an issuer, a committee consisting exclusively of one or more independent directors of the issuer;

"independent director" means, for an issuer in respect of a transaction, a director who is independent as determined in section 7.1;³⁴

"independent valuator" means, for a transaction, a valuator that is independent of all interested parties in the transaction, as determined in section 6.1;

"insider bid" means a take-over bid made by

- (a) an issuer insider of the offeree issuer,
- (b) an associated or affiliated entity of an issuer insider of the offeree issuer,
- (c) an associated or affiliated entity of the offeree issuer, or
- (d) a joint actor with a person or company referred to in paragraphs (a), (b) or (c);

"interested party" means

- (a) for an insider bid, the offeror or a joint actor with the offeror,³⁵
- (b) for an issuer bid
 - (i) the issuer, and
 - (ii) any control block holder of the issuer, or any person or company that would reasonably be expected to be a control block holder of the issuer upon successful completion of the issuer bid,
- (c) for a business combination, a related party of the issuer at the time the transaction is agreed to,³⁶ if the related party
 - would, as a consequence of the transaction, directly or indirectly acquire the issuer or the business of the issuer, or combine with the issuer, through an amalgamation, arrangement or otherwise, whether alone or with joint actors,³⁷

³² Seasoning period restrictions imposed by jurisdictions other than Ontario are included by this change.

³³ New. The term is used in the definition of "collateral benefit" in the amended Rule.

³⁴ The criterion that a director not be an interested party has been moved to section 7.1, so that all the criteria are together in one place in the Rule.

³⁵ Joint actors have been added to ensure that independent directors and the valuator are independent of the offeror's joint actors.

³⁶ Minor drafting changes to specify when the related party status is to be determined and to delete words considered not strictly necessary.

³⁷ New. See note 15 regarding the corresponding change to the definition of "going private transaction" ("business combination" in the amended Rule).

- (ii) is a party to any connected transaction to the business combination,³⁸ or
- (iii) is entitled to receive, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the transaction
 - (A) consideration per security that is not identical in amount and form to the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of affected securities of the same class,³⁹
 - (B) a collateral benefit,⁴⁰
 - (C) consideration for securities of the issuer if those securities are neither equity securities nor employee stock options,⁴¹ or
 - (D) consideration for securities of a class of equity securities of the issuer if the issuer has more than one outstanding class of equity securities, unless that consideration is not greater than the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of every other class of equity securities of the issuer in relation to the voting and financial participating interests in the issuer represented by the respective securities,⁴² and
- (d) for a related party transaction, a related party of the issuer at the time the transaction is agreed to,⁴³ if the related party
 - (i) is a party to the transaction,⁴⁴ unless it is a party only in its capacity as a holder of affected securities and is treated identically to the general body of holders in Canada of securities of the same class on a per security basis, or
 - (ii) is entitled to receive, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the transaction
 - (A) a collateral benefit,⁴⁵
 - (B) a payment or distribution made to one or more holders of securities of the issuer if those securities are not equity securities, or
 - (C) a payment or distribution made to one or more holders of a class of equity securities of the issuer if the issuer has more than one outstanding class of equity securities, unless the amount of that payment or distribution is not greater than the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of every other class of equity securities of the issuer in relation to the voting and financial participating interests in the issuer represented by the respective securities;⁴⁶

³⁸ New. See note 16.

³⁹ Rewording of clause (c)(i)(A) of the definition in the current Rule. See note 17.

⁴⁰ Replaces clause (c)(i)(B) of the definition in the current Rule. See note 18.

⁴¹ Equity securities are covered in clauses (A) and (D), and employee stock options are addressed in clause (B) and the definition of "collateral benefit". See also the next note.

⁴² Clauses (C) and (D) in the amended Rule replace subparagraph (c)(ii) in the current Rule and are intended to clarify interested party status as it relates to multiple classes of securities. The application of clause (D) is discussed in subsection 2.1(2) of the amended Companion Policy.

⁴³ Changed to specify when the related party status is to be determined.

⁴⁴ The reference to involvement in the transaction has been removed from this definition and from the definitions of "business combination" ("going private transaction" in the current Rule) and "related party transaction", to give greater clarity to the scope of the definitions. While section 2.8 of the current Companion Policy provides some guidance, the variety of the possible meanings of "involved" in the context of a transaction has lent a degree of uncertainty to the definitions. With the removal of the concept, the Rule would still be expected to cover the transactions it is intended to cover, due to the wide-ranging scope of the Rule's definition of "related party".

⁴⁵ The definition of "interested party" for a related party transaction has been changed to include related parties receiving collateral benefits and to exclude identically treated security holders in pro rata transactions. These changes enable reduced repetition in a number of parts of the Rule.

⁴⁶ Clauses (B) and (C) are new and are intended to clarify interested party status as it relates to pro rata and other related party transactions in which holders of different classes of securities of an issuer are treated differently. The application of clause (C) is discussed in subsection 2.1(2) of the Companion Policy.

"issuer insider" means, for an issuer

- (a) every director or senior officer of the issuer,
- (b) every director or senior officer of an entity⁴⁷ that is itself an issuer insider or subsidiary entity of the issuer, and
- (c) a person or company that beneficially owns voting securities of the issuer or that exercises control or direction over voting securities of the issuer, or a combination of both, carrying more than 10 per cent of the voting rights attached to all voting securities of the issuer for the time being outstanding, other than voting securities beneficially owned by the person or company as an underwriter in the course of a distribution;

"joint actors", when used to describe the relationship among two or more entities, means persons or companies "acting jointly or in concert" as defined in section 91 of the Act, with necessary modifications where the term is used in the context of a transaction that is not a take-over bid or issuer bid, but a security holder is not considered to be a joint actor with an offeror making a formal bid, or with a person or company involved in a business combination or related party transaction, solely because there is an agreement, commitment or understanding that the security holder will tender to the bid or vote in favour of the transaction;⁴⁸

"liquid market" means a market that meets the criteria specified in section 1.2;

"market capitalization" of an issuer means, for a transaction, the aggregate market price of all outstanding securities of all classes of equity securities of the issuer, the market price of the outstanding securities of a class being

- (a) in the case of equity securities of a class for which there is a published market, the product of
 - (i) the number of securities of the class outstanding as of the close of business on the last business day of the calendar month preceding the calendar month in which the transaction is agreed to or, if no securities of the class were outstanding on that day, on the first business day after that day that securities of the class became outstanding, so long as that day precedes the date the transaction is agreed to, and
 - (ii) the market price of the securities at the time referred to in subparagraph (i), on the published market on which the class of securities is principally traded, as determined in accordance with subsections 183(1), (2) and (4) of the Regulation,
- (b) in the case of equity securities of a class for which there is no published market but that are currently convertible into a class of equity securities for which there is a published market, the product of
 - (i) the number of equity securities into which the convertible securities were convertible as of the close of business on the last business day of the calendar month preceding the calendar month in which the transaction is agreed to or, if no convertible securities were outstanding or convertible on that day, on the first business day after that day that the convertible securities became outstanding or convertible, so long as that day precedes the date the transaction is agreed to, and
 - the market price of the securities into which the convertible securities were convertible, at the time referred to in subparagraph (i), on the published market on which the class of securities is principally traded, as determined in accordance with subsections 183(1), (2) and (4) of the Regulation, and

⁴⁷ "Entity" has been substituted for "company".

⁴⁸ The definition in the amended Rule incorporates subsection 2.3(2) of the current Companion Policy, which sets out the Commission's view that a lock-up or support agreement does not, in and of itself, constitute acting jointly or in concert for the purposes of the Rule. The current Rule lacks the clarity of the current Companion Policy on this point, as illustrated by the decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in *Re Sepp's Gourmet Foods Ltd.* (2002), 211 D.L.R. (4th) 542, in which the court interpreted the Rule differently from the Companion Policy's interpretation. Pending the coming into force of the amended Rule, the Commission is continuing to interpret the Rule as stated in the Companion Policy. "Joint actor" has replaced "jointly or in concert" to alert users of the Rule that they should not look solely to the Act for the interpretation of the term as it applies to the Rule.

(c) in the case of equity securities of a class not referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b), the amount determined by the issuer's board of directors in good faith to represent the fair market value⁴⁹ of the outstanding securities of that class;

"minority approval" means, for a business combination or related party transaction of an issuer, approval of the proposed transaction by a majority of the votes as specified in Part 8, cast by holders of each class of affected securities at a meeting of security holders of that class called to consider the transaction;

"OBCA" means the Business Corporations Act;

"offeree security" means a security that is subject to a take-over bid⁵⁰ or issuer bid;

"offeror" has the meaning ascribed to that term in subsection 89(1) of the Act;

51

"prior valuation" means a valuation or appraisal of an issuer or its securities or material assets, whether or not prepared by an independent valuator, that, if disclosed, would reasonably be expected to affect the decision of a security holder to vote for or against a transaction, or to retain or dispose of affected securities or offeree securities, other than

- (a) a report of a valuation or appraisal prepared by an entity other than the issuer, if
 - (i) the report was not solicited by the issuer, and
 - (ii) the entity preparing the report did so without knowledge of any material information concerning the issuer, its securities or any of its material assets, that had not been generally disclosed at the time the report was prepared,
- (b) an internal valuation or appraisal prepared for the issuer in the ordinary course of business that has not been made available to, and has been prepared without the participation of
 - (i) the board of directors of the issuer, or
 - (ii) any director or senior officer of an interested party, except a senior officer of the issuer in the case of an issuer bid,
- (c) a report of a market analyst or financial analyst that
 - (i) has been prepared by or for and at the expense of an entity other than the issuer, an interested party, or an associated or affiliated entity of the issuer or an interested party, and
 - (ii) is either generally available to clients of the analyst or of the analyst's employer or of an associated or affiliated entity of the analyst's employer or, if not, is not based, so far as the entity required to disclose a prior valuation is aware, on any material information concerning the issuer, its securities or any of its material assets, that had not been generally disclosed at the time the report was prepared,
- (d) a valuation or appraisal prepared by an entity or a person or company retained by the entity, for the purpose of assisting the entity in determining the price at which to propose a transaction that resulted in the entity becoming an issuer insider, if the valuation or appraisal is not made available to any of the independent directors of the issuer, or
- (e) a valuation or appraisal prepared by an interested party or an entity retained by the interested party, for the purpose of assisting the interested party in determining the price at which to propose a transaction that, if pursued, would be an insider bid, business combination or related party

⁴⁹ "Fair market value" has been substituted for "market price" to increase clarity.

⁵⁰ "Take-over bid" has been substituted for "insider bid" because the amended Rule refers to offeree securities in the context of a bid that precedes a second step business combination, and that bid may not necessarily be an insider bid.

⁵¹ The definition of "participating security" has been deleted because it is virtually identical to the definition of "equity security" in subsection 89(1) of the Act. "Equity security" has been substituted for "participating security" throughout the amended Rule.

transaction, if the valuation or appraisal is not made available to any of the independent directors of the issuer, 52

"related party" of an entity⁵³ means a person or company that, at the relevant time and after reasonable inquiry, is known by the entity or a director or senior officer of the entity to be

- (a) a control block holder 54 of the entity,
- (b) a person or company of which a person or company referred to in paragraph (a) is a control block holder,
- (c) a person or company of which the entity is a control block holder,
- (d) a person or company that beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over voting securities of the entity carrying more than 10 per cent of the voting rights attached to all of the outstanding voting securities of the entity,
- (e) a director or senior officer of
 - (i) the entity, or
 - (ii) a person or company described in any other paragraph of this definition,⁵⁵
- (f) a person or company that manages or directs, to any substantial degree, the affairs or operations of the entity under an agreement, arrangement or understanding between the person or company and the entity, including the general partner of an entity that is a limited partnership, but excluding a person or company appointed under bankruptcy or insolvency law,⁵⁶
- (g) a person or company of which persons or companies described in any paragraph of this definition beneficially own, in the aggregate, more than 50 per cent of the securities of any outstanding class of equity securities,⁵⁷ or
- (h) an affiliated entity of any person or company described in any other paragraph of this definition,⁵⁸

"related party transaction" means, for an issuer, a transaction between the issuer and a person or company that is a related party of the issuer at the time the transaction is agreed to, whether or not there are also other parties to the transaction, as a consequence of which, either through the transaction itself or together with connected transactions, the issuer directly or indirectly⁵⁹

- (a) purchases or acquires an asset from the related party for valuable consideration,
- (b) purchases or acquires, as a joint actor with the related party, an asset from a third party if the proportion of the asset acquired by the issuer is less than the proportion of the consideration paid by the issuer,

⁵⁵ Paragraph letters are not individually listed here and in similar cross-references in the definition.

⁵² Minor drafting changes to the definition to increase clarity.

⁵³ "Entity" has been substituted for "issuer or interested party" throughout the definition to address confusion that has arisen from the current wording, and the bona fide lender exception has been removed from this definition and incorporated into the new "control block holder" definition.

⁵⁴ The new defined term "control block holder" replaces the lengthier language in the current Rule throughout the definition.

⁵⁶ Bankruptcy or insolvency exclusion is new.

⁵⁷ New paragraph added to ensure that a person or company that, for example, is owned entirely by two or more related parties of the entity but not controlled by any one of them is caught by the definition of "related party".

⁵⁸ The references to a person controlling, and a company controlled by, a related party have been removed as not being strictly necessary, because the concepts are incorporated in the definition of "affiliated entity".

⁵⁹ The reference to involvement in the transaction has been removed from the introduction to the definition (see note 44), as have some other words that are not strictly necessary. "Connected transactions" is a new defined term in the amended Rule.

- (c) sells, transfers or disposes of an asset to the related party,⁶⁰
- (d) sells, transfers or disposes of, as a joint actor with the related party, an asset to a third party if the proportion of the consideration received by the issuer is less than the proportion of the asset sold, transferred or disposed of by the issuer,
- (e) leases property to or from the related party,
- (f) acquires the related party, or combines with the related party, through an amalgamation, arrangement or otherwise, whether alone or with joint actors, ⁶¹
- (g) issues a security to the related party or subscribes for a security of the related party,
- (h) amends the terms of a security of the issuer if the security is beneficially owned, or is one over which control or direction is exercised, by the related party, or agrees to the amendment of the terms of a security of the related party if the security is beneficially owned by the issuer or is one over which the issuer exercises control or direction,⁶²
- (i) assumes or otherwise becomes subject to a liability of the related party,
- (j) borrows money from or lends money to the related party, or creates a credit facility with the related party, ⁶³
- (k) releases, cancels or forgives a debt or liability owed by the related party,
- (I) materially amends the terms of an outstanding debt or liability owed by or to the related party, or the terms of an outstanding credit facility with the related party,⁶⁴ or
- provides a guarantee or collateral security for a debt or liability of the related party, or materially amends the terms of the guarantee or security;

"senior officer", for an issuer that is a limited partnership, includes a senior officer of the general partner of the issuer,65

"stock exchange insider bid" means an insider bid described in subclause (b)(i) of the definition of "formal bid" in subsection 89(1) of the Act;

"stock exchange issuer bid" means an issuer bid described in subclause (b)(i) of the definition of "formal bid" in subsection 89(1) of the Act;

"subsidiary entity": a person or company is considered to be a subsidiary entity of another person or company if

- (a) it is controlled by
 - (i) that other,
 - that other and one or more persons or companies, each of which is controlled by that other, or
 - (iii) two or more persons or companies, each of which is controlled by that other, or
- (b) it is a subsidiary entity of a person or company that is that other's subsidiary entity; and

⁶⁰ The order of the components of the definition has been rearranged to group together the types of transactions for which section 5.4 of the amended Rule does not require a valuation.

⁶¹ Combines paragraphs (I) and (m) of the definition in the current Rule.

⁶² The reference to the issuer agreeing to the amendment of the terms of a security of the issuer has been removed as not being strictly necessary.

⁶³ The reference to a credit facility has been added.

⁶⁴ New. Covers changes in addition to those described in paragraph (k) in the amended Rule.

⁶⁵ New. Provides consistency with the interpretation of "director".

66

"wholly-owned subsidiary entity": a person or company is considered to be a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of an issuer if the issuer owns, directly or indirectly, all the voting and equity securities and securities convertible into voting and equity securities of the person or company.

1.2 Liquid Market

- (1) For the purposes of this Rule, a liquid market in a class of securities of an issuer in respect of a transaction exists at a particular time only
 - (a) if
 - (i) there is a published market for the class of securities,
 - (ii) during the period of 12 months before the date the transaction is agreed to in the case of a related party transaction, or 12 months before the date the transaction is publicly announced in the case of an insider bid, issuer bid or business combination⁶⁷
 - (A) the number of outstanding securities of the class was at all times at least 5,000,000, excluding securities beneficially owned, or over which control or direction was exercised, by related parties and securities that were not freely tradeable,
 - (B) the aggregate trading volume of the class of securities on the published market on which the class was principally traded was at least 1,000,000 securities,
 - (C) there were at least 1,000 trades in securities of the class on the published market on which the class was principally traded, and
 - (D) the aggregate value of the trades in securities of the class on the published market on which the class was principally traded was at least \$15,000,000,⁶⁸ and
 - (iii) the market value of the class of securities on the published market on which the class was principally traded, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), was at least \$75,000,000 for the calendar month preceding the calendar month
 - (A) in which the transaction is agreed to, in the case of a related party transaction, or
 - (B) in which the transaction is publicly announced, in the case of an insider bid, issuer bid or business combination; or
 - (b) if the test set out in paragraph (a) is not met,
 - (i) there is a published market for the class of securities,
 - (ii) a person or company that is qualified and independent of all interested parties to the transaction, as determined on the same basis applicable to a valuator preparing a formal valuation under section 6.1,⁶⁹ provides an opinion to the issuer that there is a liquid market in the class at the date the transaction is agreed to in the case of a related party transaction, or at the date the transaction is publicly announced in the case of an insider bid, issuer bid or business combination,
 - (iii) the opinion is included in the disclosure document for the transaction, together with a statement that the published market on which the class is principally traded has sent a letter to the Director indicating concurrence with the opinion or providing a similar opinion, and

⁶⁶ The definition of "valuation date" has been removed, as the term is not used in the amended Rule.

⁶⁷ Some repetition has been eliminated.

⁶⁸ Drafting change to clause (D) to increase clarity.

⁶⁹ The wording of the cross-reference to section 6.1 of the current Rule has been changed to eliminate the need for the several references in section 6.1 to the person or company providing a liquidity opinion.

- (iv) the disclosure document for the transaction includes the same disclosure regarding the person or company providing the opinion as is required for a valuator under section 6.2.⁷⁰
- (2) For the purpose of determining whether an issuer satisfies the market value requirement of subparagraph (1)(a)(iii), the market value of a class of securities for a calendar month is calculated by multiplying
 - (a) the number of securities of the class outstanding as of the close of business on the last business day of the calendar month, excluding securities beneficially owned, or over which control or direction was exercised, by related parties of the issuer and securities that were not freely tradeable;⁷¹ by
 - (b) if
 - (i) the published market provides a closing price for the securities, the arithmetic average of the closing prices of the securities of that class on the published market on which that class was principally traded for each of the trading days during the calendar month, or
 - (ii) the published market does not provide a closing price, but provides only the highest and lowest prices of securities traded on a particular day, the arithmetic average of the simple averages of the highest and lowest prices of the securities of that class on the published market on which that class was principally traded for each of the trading days for which the securities traded during the calendar month.
- (3) An issuer that relies on an opinion referred to in subparagraph (1)(b)(ii) shall cause the letter referred to in subparagraph (1)(b)(iii) to be sent promptly to the Director.
- **1.3 Transactions by Wholly-Owned Subsidiary Entity -** In this Rule, a transaction of a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of an issuer is deemed to be a transaction of the issuer, and, for greater certainty, a formal bid made by a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of an issuer for securities of the issuer is deemed to be an issuer bid made by the issuer.⁷²
- **1.4 Transactions by Underlying Operating Entity of Income Trust** In this Rule, a transaction of an underlying operating entity of an income trust is deemed to be a transaction of the income trust, and a related party of the underlying operating company is deemed to be a related party of the income trust.⁷³
- **1.5 Application to Act, Regulations and Other Rules -** For the purposes of the Act, the regulations and the rules, "going private transaction" has the meaning ascribed to the term "business combination" in section 1.1 of this Rule, and "insider bid" and "related party transaction" have the meanings ascribed to those terms in section 1.1 of this Rule.⁷⁴

PART 2 INSIDER BIDS

2.1 Application

- (1) This Part does not apply to an insider bid that is exempt from sections 95 to 100 of the Act^{75} under
 - (a) clause 93(1)(a) of the Act, unless it is a stock exchange insider bid;
 - (b) clauses 93(1)(b) to (f) of the Act; or
 - (c) a decision made by the Commission under clause 104(2)(c) of the Act, unless the decision provides otherwise.

⁷⁰ This requirement has been moved here from section 6.2 of the current Rule to eliminate the need for the several references in section 6.2 to the person or company providing a liquidity opinion.

⁷¹ Subsection (3) in the current Rule has been incorporated in paragraph (2)(a) in the amended Rule.

⁷² New. Reflects Commission staff's current interpretation and incorporates subsection 2.4(1) of the current Companion Policy.

⁷³ New. Added to ensure that security holders of income trusts receive the benefits of the Rule.

Adapted from the introductory words of subsection 1.1(3) of the current Rule, which contains definitions that, in the amended Rule, have been combined alphabetically with the Rule's other definitions in section 1.1.

⁷⁵ To eliminate words that are not considered strictly necessary in subsections (1), (2) and (3), the fact that the Part applies to all nonexempted insider bids is not stated in subsection (1) in the amended Rule. Also, the exemptions in the Act technically do not apply to all of Part XX of the Act but just some sections of it. Similar changes have been made to section 3.1.

- (2) This Part does not apply to a take-over bid that is an insider bid solely because of the application of section 90 of the Act to an agreement between the offeror and a security holder of the offeree issuer that offeree securities beneficially owned by the security holder, or over which the security holder exercises control or direction, will be tendered to the bid, if
 - (a) the security holder is not a joint actor with the offeror; and
 - (b) the general nature and material terms of the agreement to tender are disclosed in a news release and report filed under section 101 of the Act, or are otherwise generally disclosed.
- (3) This Part does not apply to an insider bid in respect of which the offeror complies with National Instrument 71-101 - The *Multijurisdictional Disclosure System*, unless persons or companies whose last address as shown on the books of the offeree issuer is in Canada, as determined in accordance with subsections 12.1(2) to (4) of National Instrument 71-101, hold 20 per cent or more of the class of securities that is the subject of the bid.⁷⁶

77

2.2 Disclosure

- (1) The offeror shall disclose in the disclosure document for an insider bid
 - (a) the background to the insider bid;
 - (b) in accordance with section 6.8, every prior valuation in respect of the offeree issuer
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the insider bid, and
 - (ii) the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the offeror or any director or senior officer of the offeror; and
 - (c) the formal valuation exemption, if any, on which the offeror is relying under section 2.4 and the facts supporting that reliance.⁷⁸
- (2) The offeror shall include in the disclosure document for a stock exchange insider bid the disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation, appropriately modified.
- (3) The board of directors of the offeree issuer shall include in the directors' circular for an insider bid⁷⁹
 - (a) disclosure, in accordance with section 6.8, of every prior valuation in respect of the offeree issuer not disclosed in the disclosure document for the insider bid
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the insider bid, and
 - the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the offeree issuer or to any director or senior officer of the offeree issuer;
 - (b) a description of the background to the insider bid to the extent the background has not been disclosed in the disclosure document for the insider bid;
 - (c) disclosure of any bona fide prior offer that relates to the offeree securities or is otherwise relevant to the insider bid, which offer was received by the issuer during the 24 months before the insider bid was publicly announced, and a description of the offer and the background to the offer; and

⁷⁶ The subsection has been revised to clarify that both the disclosure and valuation requirements of Part 2 do not apply if the conditions of the subsection are met.

⁷⁷ Subsection (4) in the current Rule has been removed in light of changes to subsection (3).

⁷⁸ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption has been moved here from subsection 2.4(1) of the current Rule. The exemption is usually identified in the disclosure document, but the current Rule is not clear as to whether this is a requirement.

⁷⁹ Minor drafting change to reduce repetition in the remainder of subsection (3).

(d) a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee,⁸⁰ if any, of the offeree issuer for the insider bid, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee.

2.3 Formal Valuation

- (1) Subject to section 2.4, the offeror in an insider bid shall
 - (a) obtain, at its own expense, a formal valuation;
 - (b) provide the disclosure required by section 6.2;
 - (c) include, in accordance with section 6.5, a summary of the formal valuation in the disclosure document for the insider bid, unless the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the disclosure document; and
 - (d) comply with the other provisions of Part 6 applicable to it relating to formal valuations.
- (2) An independent committee of the offeree issuer shall, and the offeror shall enable the independent committee to
 - (a) determine who the valuator will be;
 - (b) supervise the preparation of the formal valuation; and
 - (c) use its best efforts to ensure that the formal valuation is completed and provided to the offeror in a timely manner.⁸¹

2.4 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement

- (1) Section 2.3 does not apply to an offeror in connection with an insider bid in any of the following circumstances:⁸²
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The offeror has been granted an exemption from section 2.3 under section 9.1.
 - 2. <u>Lack of Knowledge and Representation</u> Neither the offeror nor any joint actor with the offeror has, or has had within the preceding 12 months, any board or management representation in respect of the offeree issuer, or has knowledge of any material information concerning the offeree issuer or its securities that has not been generally disclosed.⁸³
 - 3. Previous Arm's Length Negotiations If
 - (a) the consideration per security under the insider bid is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as the highest consideration agreed to with one or more selling security holders of the offeree issuer in arm's length negotiations in connection with
 - (i) the making of the insider bid,
 - (ii) one or more other transactions agreed to within 12 months before the date of the first public announcement of the insider bid, or

⁸⁰ "Special" committee has been substituted for "independent" committee. The creation of an independent committee to carry out the functions referred to in this paragraph is not mandated by the Rule. Therefore, it is possible that this committee might not meet all of the criteria to qualify as an "independent committee", as defined in the Rule.

⁸¹ Paragraph (c) has been added to address concerns that have been expressed by offerors carrying out unfriendly insider bids.

⁸² The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption in the disclosure document has been moved from this subsection to paragraph 2.2(1)(c) of the amended Rule, which also specifically requires disclosure of the exemption.

⁸³ The reference to a joint actor has been added because the exemption should not apply if the offeror meets the criteria for the exemption but a joint actor with the offeror does not. The last words of the paragraph have been changed for purposes of drafting consistency with other parts of the Rule.

- (iii) a combination of transactions referred to in clauses (i) and (ii),⁸⁴
- (b) at least one of the selling security holders party to an agreement referred to in clause (a)(i) or (ii) beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over, or beneficially owned or exercised control or direction over, and agreed to sell
 - (i) at least five per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), if the person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder⁸⁵ beneficially owned 80 per cent or more of the outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), or
 - (ii) at least 10 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), if the person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder beneficially owned less than 80 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2),
- (c) one or more of the selling security holders party to any of the transactions referred to in subparagraph (a) beneficially own or exercise control or direction over, or beneficially owned or exercised control or direction over, and agreed to sell, in the aggregate, at least 20 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (3), beneficially owned, or over which control or direction was exercised, by entities other than the person or company, and joint actors with the person or company, that entered into the agreements with the selling security holders,
- (d) the offeror reasonably believes, after reasonable inquiry, that at the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a)
 - (i) each selling security holder party to the agreement had full knowledge and access to information concerning the offeree issuer and its securities, and
 - (ii) any factors peculiar to a selling security holder party to the agreement, including non-financial factors, that were considered relevant by that selling security holder in assessing the consideration did not have the effect of reducing the price that would otherwise have been considered acceptable by that selling security holder,
- (e) at the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a), the offeror did not know⁸⁶ of any material information⁸⁷ in respect of the offeree issuer or the offeree securities that
 - (i) had not been generally disclosed, and
 - (ii) if generally disclosed, could have reasonably been expected to increase the agreed consideration,
- (f) any of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a) was entered into with a selling security holder by a person or company other than the offeror, the offeror reasonably believes, after reasonable inquiry, that at the time of that agreement, the person or company did not know of any material information in respect of the offeree issuer or the offeree securities that

⁸⁴ Drafting changes to shorten subparagraph (a).

⁸⁵ "Person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder" replaces "offeror" here and in clause (ii) and subparagraph (c), since the person or company that previously agreed to purchase might not be the offeror.

⁸⁶ The condition that the offeror determine that the sellers did not know of material non-public information has been removed, as it is not relevant to the question of whether there was non-public information that, if generally disclosed, could have caused the agreed price in the previous arm's length negotiations to be higher.

⁸⁷ The word "non-public" has been removed in a number of parts of the amended Rule. The word is not considered necessary if, as in subparagraph (e) in the current Rule, it is accompanied by a reference to the same information not having been generally disclosed. Where that reference does not appear, it has been substituted for "non-public" in the amended Rule for purposes of consistency.

- (i) had not been generally disclosed, and
- (ii) if disclosed, could have reasonably been expected to increase the agreed consideration, and
- (g) the offeror does not know, after reasonable inquiry, of any material information in respect of the offeree issuer or the offeree securities since the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a) that has not been generally disclosed and could reasonably be expected to increase the value of the offeree securities.
- 4. Auction If
 - (a) the insider bid is publicly announced or made while
 - (i) one or more formal bids for securities of the same class that is the subject of the insider bid have been made and are outstanding, or
 - (ii) one or more transactions are outstanding that
 - (A) are business combinations in respect of securities of the same class that is the subject of the insider bid, or
 - (B) would be business combinations in respect of securities of the same class that is the subject of the insider bid, except that they come within the exception in paragraph (d) of the definition of business combination,

and ascribe a per security value to those securities,

- (b) at the time the insider bid is made, the offeree issuer has provided equal access to the offeree issuer, and to information concerning the offeree issuer and its securities, to the offeror in the insider bid, all offerors in the other formal bids, and all other persons or companies that proposed the transactions described in clause (a)(ii),⁸⁸ and
- (c) the offeror, in the disclosure document for the insider bid,
 - (i) includes all material information concerning the offeree issuer and its securities that is known to the offeror after reasonable inquiry but has not been generally disclosed, together with a description of the nature of the offeror's access to the issuer, and
 - (ii) states that the offeror does not know, after reasonable inquiry, of any material information concerning the offeree issuer and its securities other than information that has been disclosed under clause (i) or that has otherwise been generally disclosed.
- (2) For the purposes of subparagraph 3(b) of subsection (1), the number of outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities
 - (a) is calculated at the time of the agreement referred to in clause 3(a)(i) or (ii) of subsection (1), if the offeror knows the number of securities of the class outstanding at that time; or
 - (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, is determined based on the information most recently provided by the offeree issuer in a material change report or under section 2.1 of National Instrument 62-102 -*Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data*, immediately preceding the date of the agreement referred to in clause 3(a)(i) or (ii) of subsection (1).
- (3) For the purposes of subparagraph 3(c) of subsection (1), the number of outstanding securities of the class of offeree securities

⁸⁸ Minor drafting changes to subparagraphs (a) and (b) to reduce repetition and for clarification.

- (a) is calculated at the time⁸⁹ of the last of the agreements referred to in subparagraph 3(a) of subsection (1), if the offeror knows the number of securities of the class outstanding at that time; or
- (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, is determined based on the information most recently provided by the offeree issuer in a material change report or under section 2.1 of National Instrument 62-102, immediately preceding the date of the last of the agreements referred to in subparagraph 3(a) of subsection (1).

PART 3 ISSUER BIDS

3.1 Application

- (1) This Part does not apply to an issuer bid that is exempt from sections 95 to 100 of Part XX of the Act^{90} under
 - (a) clauses 93(3)(a) to (d) and (f) to (i) of the Act;
 - (b) clause 93(3)(e) of the Act, unless it is a stock exchange issuer bid; or
 - (c) a decision made by the Commission under clause 104(2)(c) of the Act, unless the decision provides otherwise.
- (2) This Part does not apply to an issuer bid that complies with National Instrument 71-101 *The Multijurisdictional Disclosure System*, unless persons or companies whose last address as shown on the books of the issuer is in Canada, as determined in accordance with subsections 12.1(2) to (4) of National Instrument 71-101, hold 20 per cent or more of the class of securities that is the subject of the bid.⁹¹

92

3.2 Disclosure

- (1) The issuer shall include in the disclosure document for an issuer bid⁹³
 - (a) the disclosure required by Item 16, "Right of Appraisal and Acquisition",⁹⁴ of Form 32 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable;
 - (b) a description of the background to the issuer bid;
 - (c) disclosure, in accordance with section 6.8, of every prior valuation in respect of the issuer
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the issuer bid, and
 - (ii) the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the issuer or to any director or senior officer of the issuer;
 - (d) disclosure of any bona fide prior offer that relates to the offeree securities or is otherwise relevant to the issuer bid, which offer was received by the issuer during the 24 months before the issuer bid was publicly announced, and a description of the offer and the background to the offer;
 - (e) a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee,⁹⁵ if any, of the issuer for the issuer bid, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee;

- ⁹⁴ The title of the item has been included to assist users of the Rule.
- ⁹⁵ See note 80.

⁸⁹ "Time" replaces "date".

⁹⁰ See note 75 regarding corresponding changes to the equivalent provisions on insider bids.

⁹¹ The subsection has been revised to clarify that both the disclosure and valuation requirements of Part 3 do not apply if the conditions of the subsection are met.

⁹² Subsection (3) in the current Rule has been removed in light of the changes to subsection (2).

⁹³ Minor drafting change to reduce repetition in the remainder of subsection (1).

- (f) a statement of the intention, if known to the issuer after reasonable inquiry, of every interested party to accept or not to accept the issuer bid;
- (g) a description of the effect that the issuer anticipates the issuer bid, if successful, will have on the direct or indirect voting interest in the issuer of every interested party;⁹⁶ and
- (h) disclosure of the formal valuation exemption, if any, on which the issuer is relying under section 3.4 and the facts supporting that reliance.⁹⁷
- (2) The issuer shall include in the disclosure document for a stock exchange issuer bid the applicable disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation.

3.3 Formal Valuation

- (1) Subject to section 3.4, an issuer that makes an issuer bid shall
 - (a) obtain a formal valuation;
 - (b) provide the disclosure required by section 6.2;
 - (c) include, in accordance with section 6.5, a summary of the formal valuation in the disclosure document for the issuer bid, unless the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the disclosure document;
 - (d) if there is an interested party other than the issuer, state in the disclosure document who will pay or has paid for the valuation; and
 - (e) comply with the other provisions of Part 6 applicable to it relating to formal valuations.
- (2) The board of directors of the issuer or an independent committee of the board shall
 - (a) determine who the valuator will be; and
 - (b) supervise the preparation of the formal valuation.
- **3.4** Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement Section 3.3 does not apply to an issuer in connection with an issuer bid in any of the following circumstances:⁹⁸
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The issuer has been granted an exemption from section 3.3 under section 9.1.
 - 2. <u>Bid for Non-Convertible Securities</u> The issuer bid is for securities that are not equity securities and that are not, directly or indirectly, convertible into equity securities.
 - 3. <u>Liquid Market</u> The issuer bid is made for securities for which
 - (a) a liquid market exists,
 - (b) it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the bid, there will be a market for holders of the securities who do not tender to the bid that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the bid, and
 - (c) if an opinion referred to in subparagraph (b)(ii) of subsection 1.2(1) is provided, the person or company providing the opinion reaches the conclusion described in subparagraph 3(b) of this section 3.4 and so states in its opinion.

⁹⁶ Subparagraphs (f)(i) and (f)(ii) in the current Rule are paragraphs (f) and (g) in the amended Rule.

⁹⁷ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption has been moved here from section 3.4 of the current Rule. The exemption is usually identified in the disclosure document, but the current Rule is not clear as to whether this is a requirement.

⁹⁸ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption in the disclosure document has been moved from this subsection to paragraph 3.2(1)(h) of the amended Rule, which also specifically requires disclosure of the exemption.

PART 4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

- **4.1 Application**⁹⁹ This Part does not apply to an issuer carrying out a business combination¹⁰⁰ if
 - (a) the issuer is not a reporting issuer;
 - (b) the issuer is a mutual fund; or
 - (c) (i) at the time the business combination is proposed, ¹⁰¹
 - (A) persons or companies whose last address as shown on the books of the issuer is in Ontario hold less than two per cent of the outstanding securities of each class of affected securities of the issuer, and
 - (B) the issuer reasonably believes that persons or companies who are in Ontario beneficially own less than two per cent of the outstanding securities of each class of affected securities of the issuer,¹⁰² and
 - (ii) all documents concerning the transaction that are sent generally to other holders of affected securities of the issuer are concurrently sent to all holders of the securities whose last address as shown on the books of the issuer is in Ontario.¹⁰³

104

4.2 Meeting and Information Circular

- (1) Without limiting the application of any other legal requirements that apply to meetings of security holders and information circulars, this section applies only to a business combination for which section 4.5 requires the issuer to obtain minority approval.¹⁰⁵
- (2) An issuer proposing to carry out a business combination shall call a meeting of holders of affected securities and send an information circular to those holders.
- (3) The issuer shall include in the information circular
 - (a) the disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable and with necessary modifications;
 - (b) the disclosure required by Item 16, "Right of Appraisal and Acquisition", of Form 32 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable, together with a description of rights that may be available to security holders opposed to the transaction;¹⁰⁶
 - (c) a description of the background to the business combination;
 - (d) disclosure in accordance with section 6.8 of every prior valuation in respect of the issuer
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the information circular, and

⁹⁹ Subsection 4.1(1) of the current Rule has been removed, as it is not strictly necessary.

¹⁰⁰ In the amended Rule, the specified exclusions apply to the issuer, rather than the transaction, in recognition of the fact that an exclusion may apply to some, but not all, of the issuers involved in a business combination.

¹⁰¹ The timing for making the determination has been added.

¹⁰² Clauses (A) and (B) have been revised to make the exception inapplicable if the issuer reasonably believes that beneficial ownership of the securities in Ontario is not less than two per cent, or if the tests for the exemption are not met for any class of affected securities.

¹⁰³ It is anticipated that there will be an additional exemption for foreign issuers in proposed National Instrument 71-102 - *Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers*, published in (2002), 25 0SCB 3833 at 3840.

¹⁰⁴ Paragraph (d) in the current Rule has been removed since it is no longer necessary.

¹⁰⁵ New. Added for clarification.

¹⁰⁶ The requirement to disclose legal developments has been removed, as it is covered by paragraph (a) of this subsection, in combination with Item 28 of Form 33.

- (ii) the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the issuer or to any director or senior officer of the issuer;
- (e) disclosure of any bona fide prior offer that relates to the subject matter of or is otherwise relevant to the transaction, which offer was received by the issuer during the 24 months before the transaction was publicly announced, and a description of the offer and the background to the offer;
- (f) a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee,¹⁰⁷ if any, of the issuer for the transaction, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee;
- (g) disclosure of the formal valuation exemption, if any, on which the issuer is relying under section 4.4 and the facts supporting that reliance;¹⁰⁸ and
- (h) disclosure of the number of votes attached to the securities that, to the knowledge of the issuer after reasonable inquiry, will be excluded in determining whether minority approval for the business combination is obtained.¹⁰⁹
- (4) If, after sending the information circular and before the meeting, a change occurs that, if disclosed, would reasonably be expected to affect the decision of a holder of affected securities to vote for or against the business combination or to retain or dispose of affected securities, the issuer shall promptly disseminate disclosure of the change
 - (a) in a manner that the issuer reasonably determines will inform beneficial owners of affected securities of the change; and
 - (b) sufficiently in advance of the meeting that the beneficial owners of affected securities will be able to assess the impact of the change.
- (5) If subsection (4) applies, the issuer shall file a copy of the disseminated information contemporaneously with its dissemination.

110

4.3 Formal Valuation

- (1) Subject to section 4.4, an issuer carrying out a business combination shall obtain a formal valuation if
 - (a) an interested party would, as a consequence of the transaction, directly or indirectly acquire the issuer or the business of the issuer, or combine with the issuer, through an amalgamation, arrangement or otherwise, whether alone or with joint actors, or
 - (b) an interested party is a party to any connected transaction to the business combination, if the connected transaction is a related party transaction for which the issuer is required to obtain a formal valuation under section 5.4.¹¹¹
- (2) If a formal valuation is required under subsection (1), the issuer shall
 - (a) provide the disclosure required by section 6.2;

¹⁰⁷ See note 80.

¹⁰⁸ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption has been moved here from subsection 4.5(1) of the current Rule. The exemption is usually identified in the information circular, but the current Rule is not clear as to whether this is a requirement.

¹⁰⁹ New. This information is usually provided already in the information circular.

¹¹⁰ Section 4.3 of the current Rule has been incorporated in section 4.7 of the amended Rule, which contains all the OBCA exemptions.

¹¹¹ The formal valuation requirement has been eliminated for business combinations of which the linkage with related parties does not meet a significance threshold. "Connected transactions" is a new defined term in the amended Rule.

- (b) include, in accordance with section 6.5, a summary of the formal valuation in the disclosure document for the business combination, unless the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the disclosure document;
- (c) state in the disclosure document for the business combination who will pay or has paid for the valuation; and
- (d) comply with the other provisions of Part 6 applicable to it relating to formal valuations.
- (3) The board of directors of the issuer or an independent committee of the board shall
 - (a) determine who the valuator will be; and
 - (b) supervise the preparation of the formal valuation.

4.4 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement

- (1) Section 4.3 does not apply to an issuer carrying out a business combination in any of the following circumstances:¹¹²
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The issuer has been granted an exemption from section 4.3 under section 9.1.
 - 2. <u>Issuer Not Listed on Specified Markets</u> No securities of the issuer are listed or quoted on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange, the NASDAQ National Market, the NASDAQ SmallCap Market or a stock exchange outside of North America.¹¹³
 - 3. Previous Arm's Length Negotiations If
 - (a) the consideration per affected security under the business combination is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as the highest consideration agreed to with one or more selling security holders of the issuer in arm's length negotiations in connection with
 - (i) the business combination,
 - (ii) one or more other transactions agreed to within 12 months before the date of the first public announcement of the business combination, or
 - (iii) a combination of transactions referred to in clauses (i) and (ii),¹¹⁴
 - (b) at least one of the selling security holders party to an agreement referred to in clause (a)(i) or (ii) beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over, or beneficially owned or exercised control or direction over, and agreed to sell
 - at least five per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of affected securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), if the person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder¹¹⁵ beneficially owned 80 per cent or more of the outstanding securities of the class of affected securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), or

¹¹² The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption in the disclosure document has been moved from this subsection to paragraph 4.2(3)(g) or subsection 4.6(1), as applicable, of the amended Rule, which also specifically require disclosure of the exemption.

¹¹³ New exemption.

¹¹⁴ Drafting changes to shorten subparagraph (a).

¹¹⁵ "Person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder" replaces "person or company proposing the going private transaction" here and in clause (ii), and also replaces "an interested party" in subparagraph (c). The person or company that previously agreed to purchase might be neither the one proposing the business combination nor another interested party in the business combination.

- (ii) at least 10 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of affected securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2), if the person or company that entered into the agreement with the selling security holder beneficially owned less than 80 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of affected securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (2),
- (c) one or more of the selling security holders party to any of the transactions referred to in subparagraph (a) beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over, or beneficially owned or exercised control or direction over, and agreed to sell, in the aggregate, at least 20 per cent of the outstanding securities of the class of affected securities, as determined in accordance with subsection (3), beneficially owned or over which control or direction was exercised by entities other than the person or company, and joint actors with the person or company, that entered into the agreements with the selling security holders,
- (d) the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer¹¹⁶ reasonably believes, after reasonable inquiry, that at the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a)
 - (i) each selling security holder party to the agreement had full knowledge of and access to information concerning the issuer and its securities, and
 - (ii) any factors peculiar to a selling security holder party to the agreement, including non-financial factors, that were considered relevant by the selling security holder in assessing the consideration did not have the effect of reducing the price that would otherwise have been considered acceptable by that selling security holder,
- (e) at the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a), the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer did not know¹¹⁷ of any material information in respect of the issuer or the affected securities that
 - (i) had not been generally disclosed, and
 - (ii) if disclosed, could have reasonably been expected to increase the agreed consideration,
- (f) any of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a) was entered into with a selling security holder by an entity other than the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer, the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer reasonably believes, after reasonable inquiry, that at the time of that agreement, the entity did not know of any material information in respect of the issuer or the affected securities that
 - (i) had not been generally disclosed, and
 - (ii) if disclosed, could have reasonably been expected to increase the agreed consideration, and
- (g) the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer does not know, after reasonable inquiry, of any material information in respect of the issuer or the affected securities since the time of each of the agreements referred to in subparagraph (a) that has not been generally disclosed and could reasonably be expected to increase the value of the affected securities.
- 4. <u>Auction</u> If
 - (a) the business combination is publicly announced while

¹¹⁶ "With the issuer" has been added to clarify that the person or company referred to is the party transacting the business combination with the issuer.

¹¹⁷ The condition that the person or company proposing the business combination determine that the sellers did not know of material nonpublic information has been removed, as it is not relevant to the question of whether there was non-public information that, if generally disclosed, could have caused the agreed price in the previous arm's length negotiations to be higher.

- (i) one or more transactions are outstanding that
 - (A) are business combinations in respect of the affected securities, or
 - (B) would be business combinations in respect of the affected securities, except that they come within the exception in paragraph (d) of the definition of business combination,

and ascribe a per security value to those securities, or

- (ii) one or more formal bids for the affected securities have been made and are outstanding, and
- (b) at the time the disclosure document for the business combination is sent to the holders of affected securities, the issuer has provided equal access to the issuer, and to information concerning the issuer and its securities, to the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer, all persons or companies that have proposed the other transactions described in clause (a)(i), and all offerors in the formal bids.¹¹⁸
- 5. Second Step Business Combination If
 - (a) the business combination is being effected by an offeror that made a formal bid, or an affiliated entity of that offeror, and is in respect of the securities of the same class for which the bid was made¹¹⁹ and that were not acquired in the bid,
 - (b) the business combination is completed no later than 120 days after the date of expiry of the formal bid,
 - (c) the consideration per security that the security holders would be entitled to receive in the business combination is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as the consideration that the tendering security holders were entitled to receive in the formal bid,¹²⁰
 - (d) the disclosure document for the formal bid
 - disclosed that if the offeror acquired securities under the formal bid, the offeror intended to acquire the remainder of the securities under a statutory right of acquisition or under a business combination that would satisfy the conditions in subparagraphs (b) and (c),¹²¹
 - (ii) described the expected¹²² tax consequences of both the formal bid and the business combination if, at the time the bid was made, the tax consequences arising from the business combination
 - (A) were reasonably foreseeable to the offeror, and
 - (B) were reasonably expected to be different from the tax consequences of tendering to the bid, and
 - (iii) disclosed that the tax consequences of the formal bid and the business combination may be different if, at the time the bid was made, the offeror could not

¹¹⁸ Minor drafting changes to subparagraphs (a) and (b) to reduce repetition and for clarification.

¹¹⁹ Minor drafting change to clarify that the formal bid need not have been for all outstanding securities of the class.

¹²⁰ Clauses (d)(i) and d(ii) in the current Rule have been condensed into subparagraph (c) in the amended Rule. Subparagraph (c) in the current Rule has been moved in a revised form to clause (d)(i) in the amended Rule.

Revised version of subparagraph (c) in the current Rule, to more specifically describe the disclosure requirement regarding the offeror's intent to acquire the securities not acquired in the bid.

¹²² "Expected" has been inserted, in recognition that the tax consequences cannot be stated with certainty. Similarly, the reference to known tax consequences has been removed from subclause (A) of this clause and from clause (iii) (clause (ii) in the current Rule).

reasonably foresee the tax consequences arising from the business combination.¹²³

- 6. <u>Non-redeemable Investment Fund</u> The issuer is a non-redeemable investment fund that
 - (a) at least once each quarter calculates and publicly disseminates the net asset value of its securities, and
 - (b) at the time of publicly announcing the business combination, publicly disseminates the net asset value of its securities as of the business day before the announcement.
- (2) For the purposes of subparagraph 3(b) of subsection (1), the number of outstanding securities of the class of affected securities
 - (a) is calculated at the time of the agreement referred to in clause 3(a)(i) or (ii) of subsection (1), if the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer knows the number of securities of the class outstanding at that time; or
 - (b) if subparagraph (a) does not apply, is determined based on the information most recently provided by the issuer in a material change report or under section 2.1 of National Instrument 62-102 - *Disclosure* of Outstanding Share Data, immediately preceding the date of the agreement referred to in clause 3(a)(i) or (ii) of subsection (1).
- (3) For the purposes of subparagraph 3(c) of subsection (1), the number of outstanding securities of the class of affected securities
 - (a) is calculated at the time¹²⁴ of the last of the agreements referred to in subparagraph 3(a) of subsection (1), if the person or company proposing the business combination with the issuer knows the number of securities of the class outstanding at that time; or
 - (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, is determined based on the information most recently provided by the issuer in a material change report or under section 2.1 of National Instrument 62-102, immediately preceding the date of the last of the agreements referred to in subparagraph 3(a) of subsection (1).

125

4.5 Minority Approval - Subject to section 4.6, an issuer shall not carry out a business combination unless the issuer has obtained minority approval for the business combination under Part 8.

4.6 Exemptions from Minority Approval Requirement

- (1) Section 4.5 does not apply to an issuer carrying out a business combination in any of the following circumstances if the exemption relied on, any formal valuation exemption relied on, and the facts supporting reliance on those exemptions are disclosed in the disclosure document for the business combination:¹²⁶
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The issuer has been granted an exemption from section 4.5 under section 9.1.
 - <u>90 Per Cent Exemption</u> Subject to subsection (2), one or more persons or companies that are interested parties within the meaning of subparagraph (c)(i) of the definition of interested party¹²⁷ beneficially own, in the aggregate,¹²⁸ 90 per cent or more of the outstanding securities of a class of affected securities at the time that the business combination is proposed, and either

¹²⁸ Clarification has been added that the reference is to aggregate holdings.

¹²³ Minor drafting changes to paragraph 5 (paragraph 4 in the current Rule) to reduce repetition and for consistency with the drafting of similar provisions in section 8.2 of the Rule.

¹²⁴ "Time" replaces "date".

¹²⁵ Section 4.6 of the current Rule has been incorporated in section 4.7 of the amended Rule, which contains all the OBCA exemptions.

¹²⁶ Changed to clarify that the exemptions must be disclosed in the disclosure document.

¹²⁷ Changed so as not to include entities that are interested parties solely because, for example, they are given collateral benefits.

- (a) an appraisal remedy is available to holders of the class of affected securities under the statute under which the issuer is organized or is governed as to corporate law matters, or
- (b) if an appraisal remedy referred to in subparagraph (a) is not available, holders of the class of affected securities are given an enforceable right that is substantially equivalent to the appraisal remedy provided for in subsection 185(4) of the OBCA and that is described in the disclosure document for the business combination.
- (2) If there are two or more classes of affected securities, paragraph 2 of subsection (1) applies only to a class of which the applicable interested parties beneficially own, in the aggregate, 90 per cent or more of the outstanding securities.¹²⁹
- **4.7 Conditions for Relief from OBCA Requirements**¹³⁰ An issuer that is governed by the OBCA and proposes to carry out a "going private transaction", as defined in subsection 190(1) of the OBCA, is exempt from subsections (2), (3) and (4) of section 190 of the OBCA, and is not required to make an application for exemption from those subsections under subsection 190(6) of the OBCA, if
 - (a) the transaction is not a business combination;
 - (b) Part 4 does not apply to the transaction by reason of section 4.1; or
 - (c) the transaction is carried out in compliance with Part 4, and, for this purpose, compliance includes reliance on any applicable exemption from a requirement of Part 4, including a discretionary exemption granted by the Director under section 9.1.¹³¹

PART 5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

- **5.1 Application**¹³² **-** This Part does not apply to an issuer carrying out a related party transaction¹³³ if
 - (a) the issuer is not a reporting issuer;
 - (b) the issuer is a mutual fund;
 - (c) (i) at the time the transaction is agreed to, 134
 - (A) persons or companies whose last address as shown on the books of the issuer is in Ontario hold less than two per cent of the outstanding securities of each class of affected securities of the issuer, and
 - (B) the issuer reasonably believes that persons or companies who are in Ontario beneficially own less than two per cent of the outstanding securities of each class of affected securities of the issuer,¹³⁵ and
 - (ii) all documents concerning the transaction that are sent generally to other holders of affected securities of the issuer are concurrently sent to all holders of the securities whose last address as shown on the books of the issuer is in Ontario;¹³⁶
 - (d) the parties to the transaction consist solely of

¹²⁹ Minor drafting changes primarily to shorten subsection (2).

¹³⁰ This section incorporates the exemptions in sections 4.3, 4.6 and 4.9 of the current Rule.

¹³¹ Paragraph (c) incorporates section 2.6 of the current Companion Policy.

¹³² Subsection 5.1(1) of the current Rule has been removed, as it is not strictly necessary.

¹³³ In the amended Rule, the specified exclusions apply to the issuer, rather than the transaction, in recognition of the fact that an exclusion may apply to some, but not all, of the issuers involved in a related party transaction.

¹³⁴ The timing for making the determination has been added.

¹³⁵ Clauses (A) and (B) have been revised to make the exception inapplicable if the issuer reasonably believes that beneficial ownership of the securities in Ontario is not less than two per cent, or if the tests for the exemption are not met for any class of affected securities.

¹³⁶ It is anticipated that there will be an additional exemption for foreign issuers in proposed National Instrument 71-102 - *Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers*, published in (2002), 25 0SCB 3833 at 3840.

- (i) an entity and one or more of its wholly-owned subsidiary entities, or
- (ii) wholly-owned subsidiary entities of the same entity;¹³⁷
- (e) the transaction is a business combination for the issuer;¹³⁸
- (f) the transaction would be a business combination for the issuer except that it comes within an exception in any of paragraphs (a) to (d) of the definition of business combination;
- (g) the transaction is a downstream transaction for the issuer;¹³⁹
- 140
- (h) the issuer is obligated to and does carry out the transaction substantially under the terms
 - (i) that were agreed to, and generally disclosed, before May 1, 2000,
 - that were agreed to, and generally disclosed, before the issuer became a reporting issuer, or
 - (iii) of a previous transaction the terms of which were generally disclosed, including an issuance of a convertible security, if the previous transaction was carried out in compliance with this Rule, including in reliance on any applicable exemption or exclusion, or was not subject to this Rule;¹⁴¹
- 142
- (i) the transaction is a distribution
 - (i) of securities of the issuer and is a related party transaction for the issuer solely because the interested party is an underwriter of the distribution, and
 - (ii) carried out in compliance with, including in reliance on any applicable exemption from, Multilateral Instrument 33-105 *Underwriting Conflicts*;¹⁴³
- (j) the issuer is subject to the requirements of Part IX of the Loan and Trust Corporations Act, Part XI of the Bank Act (Canada), Part XI of the Insurance Companies Act (Canada), or Part XI of the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada), or any successor to that legislation, and the issuer complies with those requirements;¹⁴⁴ or
- (k) the transaction is a rights offering, dividend, or any other transaction in which the general body of holders in Canada of affected securities of the same class are treated identically on a per security basis, if

¹³⁷ Broadens the exclusion so that it is not confined to statutory amalgamations. The revised exclusion also replaces the formal valuation exemption for transactions involving wholly-owned subsidiary entities in paragraph 9 of section 5.6 of the current Rule, so that this type of transaction would no longer be subject to the disclosure requirements that apply specifically to related party transactions.

¹³⁸ Paragraph (e) has been shortened to remove conditions to the exclusion that are not considered strictly necessary.

¹³⁹ New. "Downstream transaction" is a new defined term in the amended Rule, and its exclusion under paragraph 5.1(g) of the amended Rule replaces its exemption from the formal valuation and minority approval requirements under paragraph 10 of section 5.6 and paragraph 3 of section 5.8, respectively, of the current Rule.

¹⁴⁰ Paragraph (g) in the current Rule has been removed, as it is not strictly necessary, because a party to the transaction must be a related party of the issuer at the time the transaction is agreed to in order for the transaction to fall within the definition of "related party transaction".

¹⁴¹ Paragraph (h) in the amended Rule replaces paragraphs (h), (i), (j) and (k) in the current Rule. The grandfathering provisions of paragraphs (h) and (i) in the current Rule have been combined so as not to distinguish between the periods before and after former Policy 9.1 came into effect. The provisions of paragraph (k) in the current Rule have been revised to cover any previous transaction entailing subsequent obligations of the issuer, not just the issuance of convertible securities for which there is a published market.

Paragraph (I) in the current Rule has been removed because the rule to which it refers has lapsed without a successor rule.

¹⁴³ Updated version of paragraph (m) in the current Rule.

¹⁴⁴ Minor rewording of subsection 5.1(3) of the current Rule.

- (i) the transaction has no interested party within the meaning of paragraph (d) of the definition of interested party, or
- (ii) the transaction is a rights offering, there is an interested party only because a related party of the issuer provides a stand-by commitment for the rights offering, and the stand-by commitment complies with Rule 45-101 *Rights Offerings*.¹⁴⁵

5.2 Material Change Report

- (1) An issuer shall include in a material change report, if any,¹⁴⁶ required to be filed under the Act for a related party transaction
 - (a) a description of the transaction and its material terms;
 - (b) the purpose and business reasons for the transaction;
 - (c) the anticipated effect of the transaction on the issuer's business and affairs;
 - (d) a description of
 - (i) the interest in the transaction of every interested party and of the related parties and associated entities of the interested parties, ¹⁴⁷
 - (ii) the effect of the transaction on every person or company referred to in subparagraph (i), and
 - (iii) the nature of any benefit that will accrue as a consequence of the transaction to every person or company referred to in subparagraph (i);
 - (e) unless this information will be included in another disclosure document for the transaction,¹⁴⁸ a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee,¹⁴⁹ if any, of the issuer for the transaction, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee;
 - (f) subject to subsection (3), a summary, in accordance with section 6.5, of the formal valuation, if any, obtained for the transaction, unless the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the material change report or will be included in its entirety in another disclosure document for the transaction;
 - (g) disclosure, in accordance with section 6.8, of every prior valuation in respect of the issuer that relates to the subject matter of or is otherwise relevant to the transaction
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the material change report, and
 - (ii) the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the issuer or to any director or senior officer of the issuer;
 - (h) the general nature and material terms of any agreement entered into by the issuer, or a related party of the issuer, with an interested party or a joint actor with an interested party, in connection with the transaction; and

¹⁴⁵ The formal valuation exemption for a pro rata transaction in paragraph 5 of section 5.6 of the current Rule has been moved to the Application section of Part 5, so that this type of transaction would no longer be subject to the disclosure requirements that apply specifically to related party transactions. The paragraph has been redrafted to shorten it and reflect the changes to the definition of "interested party" as it applies to related party transactions in the amended Rule.

¹⁴⁶ "If any" has been added to clarify that this subsection does not create an obligation to file a material change report.

¹⁴⁷ Subparagraph (i) has been redrafted to shorten it and to reflect the changes to the definition of "interested party" in the amended Rule.

¹⁴⁸ The first words of paragraph (e) have been changed to provide for the possibility that security holder approval for the transaction will be sought despite the Rule not requiring minority approval.

¹⁴⁹ See note 80.

- (i) disclosure of the formal valuation and minority approval exemptions, if any, on which the issuer is relying under sections 5.5 and 5.7, respectively, and the facts supporting reliance on the exemptions.¹⁵⁰
- (2) If the issuer files a material change report less than 21 days before the expected date of the closing of the transaction, the issuer shall explain in the news release required to be issued under the Act and in the material change report why the shorter period is reasonable or necessary in the circumstances.
- (3) Despite paragraphs (1)(f) and 5.4(2)(a),¹⁵¹ if the issuer is required to include a summary of the formal valuation in the material change report and the formal valuation is not available at the time the issuer files the material change report, the issuer shall file a supplementary material change report containing the disclosure required by paragraph (1)(f) as soon as the formal valuation is available.
- (4) The issuer shall send a copy of any material change report prepared by it in respect of the transaction to any security holder of the issuer upon request and without charge.

5.3 Meeting and Information Circular

- (1) Without limiting the application of any other legal requirements that apply to meetings of security holders and information circulars, this section applies only to a related party transaction for which section 5.6 requires the issuer to obtain minority approval.¹⁵²
- (2) An issuer proposing to carry out a related party transaction to which this section applies shall call a meeting of holders of affected securities and send an information circular to those holders.
- (3) The issuer shall include in the information circular
 - the disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable and with necessary modifications;
 - (b) the disclosure required by Item 16, "Right of Appraisal and Acquisition", of Form 32 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable, together with a description of rights that may be available to security holders opposed to the transaction;¹⁵³
 - (c) a description of the background to the transaction;
 - (d) disclosure, in accordance with section 6.8, of every prior valuation in respect of the issuer that relates to the subject matter of or is otherwise relevant to the transaction
 - (i) that has been made in the 24 months before the date of the information circular, and
 - (ii) the existence of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, to the issuer or to any director or senior officer of the issuer;
 - (e) disclosure of any bona fide prior offer that relates to the subject matter of or is otherwise relevant to the transaction, which offer was received by the issuer during the 24 months before the transaction was publicly announced, and a description of the offer and the background to the offer;
 - (f) a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee,¹⁵⁴ if any, of the issuer for the transaction, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee;

¹⁵⁰ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on exemptions has been moved here from section 5.6 and subsection 5.8(1) of the current Rule, and the requirement to disclose the exemptions has been made explicit.

¹⁵¹ The reference to paragraph 5.4(2)(a) has been added to cover the circumstance where the material change report is the disclosure document for the transaction.

¹⁵² New. Added for clarification.

¹⁵³ The requirement to disclose legal developments has been removed, as it is covered by paragraph (a) of this subsection in combination with Item 28 of Form 33.

¹⁵⁴ See note 80.

- (g) disclosure of the formal valuation exemption, if any, on which the issuer is relying under section 5.5 and the facts supporting that reliance;¹⁵⁵ and
- (h) disclosure of the number of votes attached to the securities that, to the knowledge of the issuer after reasonable inquiry, will be excluded in determining whether minority approval for the related party transaction is obtained.¹⁵⁶
- (4) If, after sending the information circular and before the meeting, a change occurs that, if disclosed, would reasonably be expected to affect the decision of a holder of affected securities to vote for or against the related party transaction or to retain or dispose of affected securities, the issuer shall promptly disseminate disclosure of the change
 - (a) in a manner that the issuer reasonably determines will inform beneficial owners of affected securities of the change; and
 - (b) sufficiently in advance of the meeting that the beneficial owners of affected securities will be able to assess the impact of the change.
- (5) If subsection (4) applies, the issuer shall file a copy of the disseminated information contemporaneously with its dissemination.

5.4 Formal Valuation

- (1) Subject to section 5.5, an issuer shall obtain a formal valuation for a related party transaction described in any of paragraphs (a) to (g) of the definition of related party transaction.¹⁵⁷
- (2) If a formal valuation is required under subsection (1), the issuer shall
 - include, in accordance with section 6.5, a summary of the formal valuation in the disclosure document for the related party transaction, unless the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the disclosure document;
 - (b) state in the disclosure document who will pay or has paid for the valuation; and
 - (c) comply with the other provisions of Part 6 applicable to it relating to formal valuations.
- (3) The board of directors of the issuer or an independent committee of the board shall
 - (a) determine who the valuator will be; and
 - (b) supervise the preparation of the formal valuation.
- **5.5 Exemptions from Formal Valuation Requirement -** Section 5.4 does not apply to an issuer carrying out a related party transaction in any of the following circumstances:¹⁵⁸
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The issuer has been granted an exemption from section 5.4 under section 9.1.
 - 2. <u>Fair Market Value Not More Than 25% of Market Capitalization¹⁵⁹ At the time the transaction is agreed to, neither the fair market value of the subject matter of, nor the fair market value of the consideration for, the transaction, insofar as it involves related parties,¹⁶⁰ exceeds 25 per cent of the issuer's market capitalization, and for this purpose</u>

¹⁵⁵ Moved here from section 5.6 of the current Rule, and the requirement to disclose the exemption has been made explicit.

¹⁵⁶ New. This information is usually provided already in the information circular.

¹⁵⁷ The formal valuation requirement has been eliminated for certain types of related party transactions.

¹⁵⁸ The requirement to disclose the facts supporting reliance on an exemption in the disclosure document has been moved from this section to paragraphs 5.2(1)(i) and 5.3(3)(g) and subsection 5.7(1), as applicable, of the amended Rule, which also specifically require disclosure of the exemption.

¹⁵⁹ Paragraph 2 in the amended Rule incorporates revised versions of paragraphs 2 and 3 in the current Rule.

¹⁶⁰ "Related parties" replaces "all interested parties" for clarification.

- (a) if either of the fair market values is not readily determinable, any determination as to whether that fair market value exceeds 25 per cent of the issuer's market capitalization shall be made by the issuer's board of directors acting in good faith,
- (b) if the transaction is one in which the issuer or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer combines with a related party, through an amalgamation, arrangement or otherwise, the subject matter of the transaction shall be deemed to be the securities of the related party held, at the time the transaction is agreed to, by persons or companies other than the issuer or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer, and the consideration for the transaction shall be deemed to be these persons or companies,¹⁶¹
- (c) if the transaction is one of two or more connected transactions that are related party transactions for the issuer and that are subject to this Part, the fair market values for all of those transactions shall be aggregated in determining whether the fair market value tests for this exemption are met, except for those transactions for which an exemption in any of paragraphs 3 to 11 applies to the issuer,¹⁶² and
- (d) if the assets involved in the transaction (the "initial transaction") include warrants, options or other instruments providing for the possible future purchase of securities or other assets, the calculation of the applicable market values for the initial transaction shall include the fair market value of the underlying securities or other assets, as of the time the initial transaction is agreed to, and the maximum amount potentially payable if the future purchase takes place.¹⁶³
- Issuer Not Listed on Specified Markets No securities of the issuer are listed or quoted on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange, the NASDAQ National Market, the NASDAQ SmallCap Market or a stock exchange outside of North America.¹⁶⁴
- 4. <u>Distribution of Securities for Cash</u>¹⁶⁵ The transaction is a distribution of securities of the issuer to a related party for cash consideration, if
 - (a) neither the issuer nor, to the knowledge of the issuer after reasonable inquiry, the related party has knowledge of any material information concerning the issuer or its securities that has not been generally disclosed, and the disclosure document for the transaction includes a statement to that effect, and
 - (b) the disclosure document for the transaction includes a description of the effect of the distribution on the direct or indirect voting interest of the related party.
- 5. <u>Certain Transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business</u> The transaction is
 - (a) a purchase or sale, in the ordinary course of business of the issuer, of inventory consisting of personal property under an agreement that has been approved by the board of directors of the issuer and the existence of which has been generally disclosed, or

¹⁶¹ Subparagraph (b) replaces paragraph 3 in the current Rule and makes the exemption available for an amalgamation or similar transaction even if the transaction is not a downstream transaction. It also excludes from the fair market value calculation only those securities held by the issuer or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer, rather than all securities beneficially owned by the issuer or by persons acting jointly or in concert with the issuer. The broader scope of the exclusion in the current Rule could result in the exemption applying in unintended circumstances if, for example, the parent company of the issuer beneficially owns securities of the entity amalgamating with the issuer, other than securities beneficially owned by the parent company through its interest in the issuer.

¹⁶² New. This provision is intended to provide more clarity regarding this exemption as it applies to connected transactions than is provided in section 6.1 of the current Companion Policy. "Connected transactions" is a new defined term in the amended Rule.

¹⁶³ New. Added for clarification. Under the current Rule, the issuance of warrants, for example, and their subsequent exercise could be regulated as two distinct related party transactions in certain circumstances, by virtue of paragraph 5.1(k) of the Rule. That paragraph is replaced by subparagraph 5.1(h)(iii) of the amended Rule, so that generally only the initial issuance of the warrants would be subject to the Rule.

¹⁶⁴ New exemption that replaces the exemptions in paragraphs 13 (fair market value of transaction less than \$500,000) and 17 (certain types of transactions carried out by Canadian (now TSX) Venture Exchange issuers) in the current Rule.

¹⁶⁵ Paragraph 4 in the amended Rule is a revised version of paragraph 14 in the current Rule. A stock exchange listing and liquid market are not conditions to the availability of the exemption in the amended Rule.

(b) a lease of real or personal property under an agreement on reasonable commercial terms that, considered as a whole, are not less advantageous to the issuer than if the lease was with a person or company dealing at arm's length with the issuer and the existence of which has been generally disclosed.

166

- 6. <u>Transaction Supported by Arm's Length Control Block Holder</u> The interested party beneficially owns, or exercises control or direction over, voting securities of the issuer that carry fewer voting rights than the voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control or direction is exercised, by another security holder of the issuer who is a control block holder of the issuer and who, in the circumstances of the transaction
 - (a) is not also an interested party,
 - (b) is at arm's length to the interested party, and
 - (c) supports the transaction.¹⁶⁷
- 7. Bankruptcy, Insolvency, Court Order If
 - (a) the transaction is subject to court approval, or a court orders that the transaction be effected, under
 - (i) bankruptcy or insolvency law,¹⁶⁸ or
 - (ii) section 191 of the *Canada Business Corporations Act*, any successor to that section, or equivalent legislation of a jurisdiction,
 - (b) the court is advised of the requirements of this Rule regarding formal valuations for related party transactions, and of the provisions of this paragraph 7, and
 - (c) the court does not require compliance with section 5.4.¹⁶⁹
- 8. Financial Hardship If
 - (a) the issuer is insolvent or in serious financial difficulty,
 - (b) the transaction is designed to improve the financial position of the issuer,
 - (c) paragraph 7 is not applicable,
 - (d) there is at least one independent director of the issuer in respect of the transaction,¹⁷⁰ and
 - (e) the issuer's board of directors, acting in good faith, determines, and at least two-thirds of the issuer's independent directors, acting in good faith, determine that
 - (i) subparagraphs (a) and (b) apply, and
 - (ii) the terms of the transaction are reasonable in the circumstances of the issuer.

¹⁶⁶ Paragraph 5 in the current Rule has been replaced by paragraph (k) of section 5.1 of the amended Rule.

¹⁶⁷ The title of paragraph 6 has been changed to more directly label the exemption, and the paragraph has been shortened, primarily to reflect the changes to the definition of "interested party".

¹⁶⁸ References to specific legislation have been removed.

¹⁶⁹ Paragraph 7 in the current Rule, including its title, has been changed for clarification, to include an order under an equivalent provision to section 191 of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* in the legislation of a province or territory of Canada, and to provide for the possibility of someone other than the issuer advising the court of the applicable requirements of the Rule.

¹⁷⁰ New. Added for clarification.

- 171
- 9. <u>Amalgamation or Equivalent Transaction with No Adverse Effect on Issuer or Minority</u>¹⁷² The transaction is a statutory amalgamation, or substantially equivalent transaction, resulting in the combination of the issuer or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer with an interested party, that is undertaken in whole or in part for the benefit of another related party, if
 - the transaction does not and will not have any adverse tax or other consequences to the issuer, an entity resulting from the combination, or beneficial owners of affected securities generally,
 - (b) no material actual or contingent liability of the interested party with which the issuer or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer is combining will be assumed by the issuer, the wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer or a successor to the issuer,
 - (c) the related party benefiting from the transaction agrees to indemnify the issuer against any liabilities of the interested party with which the issuer, or a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer, is combining,
 - (d) after the transaction, the nature and extent of the voting and financial participating interests of holders of affected securities in the combined entity will be the same as, and the value of their financial participating interests will not be less than, that of their interests in the issuer before the transaction,¹⁷³ and
 - (e) the related party benefiting from the transaction pays for all of the costs and expenses resulting from the transaction.
- 174
- 10. <u>Asset Resale</u> The subject matter of the related party transaction was acquired by the issuer or an interested party, as the case may be, in a prior arm's length transaction that was agreed to not more than 12 months before the date that the related party transaction is agreed to, and a qualified, independent valuator¹⁷⁵ provides a written opinion that, after making such adjustments, if any, as the valuator considers appropriate in the exercise of the valuator's professional judgment
 - (a) the value of the consideration payable by the issuer for the subject matter of the related party transaction is not more than the value of the consideration paid by the interested party in the prior arm's length transaction, or
 - (b) the value of the consideration to be received by the issuer for the subject matter of the related party transaction is not less than the value of the consideration paid by the issuer in the prior arm's length transaction,

and the disclosure document for the related party transaction includes the same disclosure regarding the valuator as is required in the case of a formal valuation under section 6.2.¹⁷⁶

- 11. <u>Non-redeemable Investment Fund</u> The issuer is a non-redeemable investment fund that
 - (a) at least once each quarter calculates and publicly disseminates the net asset value of its securities, and

¹⁷⁵ Shortened to eliminate duplication with the Rule's definition of "independent valuator".

¹⁷¹ Paragraphs 9, 10 and 11 in the current Rule have been removed. Paragraphs 9 and 10 are covered by paragraphs (d) and (g), respectively, of section 5.1 of the amended Rule. Paragraph 11 has been moved to paragraph 6 of section 5.7 of the amended Rule, which is the minority approval exemption section, because a valuation is not required for a loan in the amended Rule.

¹⁷² The paragraph has been changed to include a transaction that is not technically an amalgamation but has essentially the same effect.

¹⁷³ Subparagraph (d) has been changed to include a reference to voting interests, which should not be affected by the transaction, and for drafting consistency with other parts of the amended Rule.

¹⁷⁴ The exemption for a transaction with a fair market value of under \$500,000 has been replaced by the new exemption in paragraph 3 of this section in the amended Rule.

¹⁷⁶ This disclosure requirement has been moved here from section 6.2 of the current Rule.

- (b) at the time of publicly announcing the related party transaction, publicly disseminates the net asset value of its securities as of the business day before the announcement.
- 177
- **5.6 Minority Approval -** Subject to section 5.7, an issuer shall not carry out a related party transaction unless the issuer has obtained minority approval for the transaction under Part 8.

5.7 Exemptions from Minority Approval Requirement

- (1) Section 5.6 does not apply to an issuer carrying out a related party transaction in any of the following circumstances if the exemption relied on, any formal valuation exemption relied on, and the facts supporting reliance on those exemptions are disclosed in the disclosure document, if any, for the transaction:¹⁷⁸
 - 1. <u>Discretionary Exemption</u> The issuer has been granted an exemption from section 5.6 under section 9.1.
 - 2. <u>Fair Market Value Not More Than 25 Per Cent of Market Capitalization</u> Subject to subsection (2), the circumstances described in paragraph 2 of section 5.5.
 - 3. <u>Other Transactions Exempt from Formal Valuation</u> The circumstances described in paragraphs 5, 6 and 9 of section 5.5.¹⁷⁹
 - 4. <u>Bankruptcy, Insolvency, Court Order</u> The circumstances described in subparagraph 7(a) of section 5.5, if the court is advised of the requirements of this Rule regarding minority approval for related party transactions, and of the provisions of this paragraph 4, and the court does not require compliance with section 5.6.¹⁸⁰
 - <u>Financial Hardship</u> The circumstances described in paragraph 8 of section 5.5, if there is no other requirement, corporate or otherwise, to hold a meeting to obtain any approval of the holders of any class of affected securities.
 - 6. <u>Loan to Issuer, No Equity or Voting Component</u>¹⁸¹ The transaction is a loan, or the creation of a credit facility,¹⁸² that is obtained by the issuer from a related party on reasonable commercial terms that are not less advantageous to the issuer than if the loan or credit facility were obtained from a person or company dealing at arm's length with the issuer, and the loan, or each advance under the credit facility, as the case may be, is not
 - (a) convertible, directly or indirectly, into equity or voting securities of the issuer or a subsidiary entity of the issuer, or otherwise participating in nature, or
 - (b) repayable as to principal or interest, directly or indirectly, in equity or voting securities of the issuer or a subsidiary entity of the issuer,

and for this purpose, any amendment to the terms of a loan or credit facility shall be deemed to create a new loan or credit facility.¹⁸³

¹⁷⁷ The exemption for certain types of transactions carried out by Canadian (now TSX) Venture Exchange issuers has been replaced by the new exemption in paragraph 3 of this section in the amended Rule.

¹⁷⁸ Changed to clarify that the exemptions must be disclosed in the disclosure document, including in the event that security holder approval for the transaction is sought despite the Rule not requiring minority approval.

¹⁷⁹ The referenced valuation exemptions have been changed to reflect revisions to section 5.6 of the current Rule (section 5.5 of the amended Rule).

¹⁸⁰ Changed to reflect revisions to paragraph 7 of section 5.6 of the current Rule (section 5.5 of the amended Rule).

¹⁸¹ This exemption is in paragraph 3 of subsection 5.8(1) of the current Rule in the form of a cross-reference to the formal valuation exemption in paragraph 11 of section 5.6. In the amended Rule, this exemption applies only to minority approval, because a loan does not require a formal valuation.

¹⁸² The exemption has been reworded so as not to imply that each advance under the terms of a credit facility is necessarily regulated by the Rule as a related party transaction distinct from the creation of the credit facility. An advance would normally be covered by the exclusion in subparagraph 5.1(h)(iii) of the amended Rule.

¹⁸³ The last provision of the paragraph has been added to clarify that, for example, an addition of a new equity component to the terms of a loan that previously had no equity component negates the exemption. The exemption in subparagraph 11(b) of section 5.6 of the

- 7. <u>90 Per Cent Exemption</u> Subject to subsection (3), one or more persons or companies that are interested parties within the meaning of subparagraph (d)(i) of the definition of interested party¹⁸⁴ beneficially own, in the aggregate,¹⁸⁵ 90 per cent or more of the outstanding securities of a class of affected securities at the time the transaction is agreed to, and either
 - (a) an appraisal remedy is available to holders of the class of affected securities under the statute under which the issuer is organized or is governed as to corporate law matters, or
 - (b) if an appraisal remedy referred to in subparagraph (a) is not available, holders of the class of affected securities are given an enforceable right that is substantially equivalent to the appraisal remedy provided for in subsection 185(4) of the OBCA and that is described in an information circular or other document sent to holders of that class of affected securities in connection with a meeting to approve the related party transaction, or, if there is no such meeting, in another document that is sent to those security holders not later than the time by which an information circular or other document would have been required to be sent to them if there had been a meeting.¹⁸⁶
- (2) If the transaction is a material amendment to the terms of a security, or of a loan or credit facility to which the exemption in paragraph 6 of subsection (1) does not apply, the fair market value tests for the exemption in paragraph 2 of subsection (1) shall be applied to the whole transaction as amended, insofar as it involves related parties, rather than just to the amendment, and, for this purpose, any addition of, or amendment to, a term involving a right to convert into or otherwise acquire equity or voting securities is deemed to be a material amendment.¹⁸⁷
- (3) If there are two or more classes of affected securities, paragraph 7 of subsection (1) applies only to a class of which the applicable interested parties beneficially own, in the aggregate, 90 per cent or more of the outstanding securities.¹⁸⁸

PART 6 FORMAL VALUATIONS AND PRIOR VALUATIONS

6.1 Independence and Qualifications of Valuator¹⁸⁹

- (1) Every formal valuation required by this Rule for a transaction shall be prepared by a valuator that is independent of all interested parties in the transaction and that has appropriate qualifications.¹⁹⁰
- (2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), it is a question of fact as to whether a valuator is independent of an interested party or has appropriate qualifications.¹⁹¹
- (3) A valuator is not independent of an interested party in connection with a transaction if
 - (a) the valuator is an associated or affiliated entity or issuer insider of the interested party;
 - (b) except in the circumstances described in paragraph (e), the valuator acts as an adviser to the interested party in respect of the transaction, but for this purpose, a valuator that is retained by an issuer to prepare a formal valuation for an issuer bid is not, for that reason alone, considered to be an adviser to the interested party in respect of the transaction;¹⁹²

current Rule for a cash payment by the issuer under the loan or credit facility has been removed, as it would normally be covered by the exclusion in subparagraph 5.1(h)(iii) of the amended Rule.

- ¹⁸⁴ Changed so as not to include entities that are interested parties solely because, for example, they are given collateral benefits.
- ¹⁸⁵ Clarification has been added that the reference is to aggregate holdings.
- ¹⁸⁶ Subparagraph (b) has been expanded to address the possibility of there being no meeting of holders of affected securities to approve the transaction.
- ¹⁸⁷ New. This provision is intended to clarify the exemption as it applies to an amendment to a security or loan transaction.
- ¹⁸⁸ Minor drafting changes primarily to shorten the subsection.
- ¹⁸⁹ The title of the section has been changed to reflect the fact that the section refers to qualifications.
- ¹⁹⁰ Minor wording change for consistency with subsections (2) and (3).
- ¹⁹¹ The reference to subsection (5) has been removed, as that subsection has been incorporated into paragraph 6.1(3)(b) of the amended Rule. The several references in section 6.1 to a person or company providing a liquidity opinion have been removed, as they are covered by a cross-reference to this section in subparagraph 1.2(1)(b)(ii) of the amended Rule.
- ¹⁹² Paragraph (b) in the amended Rule incorporates subsection 6.1(5) of the current Rule.

- (c) the compensation of the valuator depends in whole or in part on an agreement, arrangement or understanding that gives the valuator a financial incentive in respect of the conclusion reached in the formal valuation or the outcome of the transaction;
- (d) the valuator is
 - (i) a manager or co-manager of a soliciting dealer group for the transaction, or
 - a member of a soliciting dealer group for the transaction, if the valuator, in its capacity as a soliciting dealer, performs services beyond the customary soliciting dealer's function or receives more than the per security or per security holder fees payable to other members of the group;
- (e) the valuator is the external auditor of the issuer or of an interested party, unless the valuator will not be the external auditor of the issuer or of an interested party upon completion of the transaction and that fact is publicly disclosed at the time of or prior to the public disclosure of the results of the valuation;¹⁹³ or
- (f) the valuator has a material financial interest in the completion of the transaction,

and for the purposes of this subsection, references to the valuator include any affiliated entitiy of the valuator. $^{194}\,$

- (4) A valuator that is paid by one or more interested parties in a transaction, or paid jointly by the issuer and one or more interested parties in a transaction, to prepare a formal valuation for the transaction is not, by virtue of that fact alone, not independent.
- **6.2 Disclosure Re Valuator -** An issuer or offeror required to obtain a formal valuation for a transaction¹⁹⁵ shall include in the disclosure document for the transaction
 - (a) a statement that the valuator has been determined to be qualified and independent;
 - (b) a description of any past, present or anticipated relationship between the valuator and the issuer or an interested party that may be relevant to a perception of lack of independence;
 - (c) a description of the compensation paid or to be paid to the valuator;
 - (d) a description of any other factors relevant to a perceived lack of independence of the valuator;
 - (e) the basis for determining that the valuator is qualified; and
 - (f) the basis for determining that the valuator is independent, despite any perceived lack of independence, having regard to the amount of the compensation and any factors referred to in paragraphs (b) and (d).¹⁹⁶

6.3 Subject Matter of Formal Valuation

- (1) An issuer or offeror required to obtain a formal valuation shall provide the valuation in respect of
 - (a) the offeree securities, in the case of an insider bid or issuer bid;
 - (b) the affected securities, in the case of a business combination;
 - (c) subject to subsection (2), any non-cash consideration being offered to, or to be received by, the holders of securities referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b); and

¹⁹³ The last part of the paragraph has been changed to clarify the timing of the required disclosure.

¹⁹⁴ The added words at the end of the subsection enable reduced repetition in the subsection.

¹⁹⁵ The references to a liquidity opinion and the person or company providing it, and the reference to the opinion required in connection with the asset resale exemption for related party transactions, have been replaced by cross-references to section 6.2 in subparagraph 1.2(1)(b)(iv) and in paragraph 10 of section 5.5, respectively, of the amended Rule.

¹⁹⁶ Minor drafting changes have been made to paragraph (f) for clarification.

- (d) subject to subsection (2), the non-cash assets involved in a related party transaction.¹⁹⁷
- (2) A formal valuation of non-cash consideration or assets referred to in paragraphs (1)(c) or (d) is not required if
 - (a) the non-cash consideration or assets are securities of a reporting issuer or securities of a class for which there is a published market;¹⁹⁸
 - (b) the person or company that would otherwise be required to obtain the formal valuation of those securities states in the disclosure document for the transaction that the person or company has no knowledge of any material information concerning the issuer of the securities, or concerning the securities, that has not been generally disclosed;
 - (c) in the case of an insider bid, issuer bid or business combination¹⁹⁹
 - (i) a liquid market in the class of securities exists,
 - (ii) the securities constitute 25 per cent or less of the number of securities of the class that are outstanding immediately before the transaction,²⁰⁰
 - (iii) the securities are freely tradeable at the time the transaction is completed, and
 - (iv) the valuator is of the opinion that a valuation of the securities is not required; and
 - (d) in the case of a related party transaction for the issuer of the securities, the conditions in subparagraphs 4(a) and (b) of section 5.5 are satisfied, regardless of the form of the consideration for the securities.²⁰¹

6.4 Preparation of Formal Valuation

- (1) A formal valuation shall contain the valuator's opinion as to a value or range of values representing the fair market value of the subject matter of the valuation.²⁰²
- (2) A person or company preparing a formal valuation under this Rule shall
 - (a) prepare the formal valuation in a diligent and professional manner;
 - (b) prepare the formal valuation as of an effective date that is not more than 120 days before the earlier of
 - (i) the date that the disclosure document for the transaction is first sent to security holders, if applicable, and
 - (ii) the date that the disclosure document is filed;
 - (c) make appropriate adjustments in the formal valuation for material intervening events of which it is aware between the effective date of the valuation and the earlier of the dates referred to in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) of paragraph (b);

¹⁹⁷ Paragraphs (c) and (d) have been changed for clarification.

¹⁹⁸ Replaces the condition that there be a liquid market in the securities in the case of a related party transaction. See the next note.

¹⁹⁹ Related party transactions have been excluded from paragraph (c), which corresponds to paragraphs (b) and (c) in the current Rule, because the paragraph is intended to reinforce the concept of the securities as cash equivalents for the recipients of the securities, with the cash value being, as nearly as possible, the price at which the securities can be sold into the market upon their receipt. This is of less relevance to a related party transaction, where the issuer would not typically acquire securities for the purpose of immediate resale. Also, if the rest of subsection (2) applies to all the non-cash assets involved in a related party transaction, the expense of retaining a valuator just for the purpose of subparagraph (c)(iv) is not considered justified.

²⁰⁰ The 10 per cent threshold in the current Rule has been raised to 25 per cent, which is considered to be sufficiently low when combined with the valuator's opinion required by subparagraph (iv).

²⁰¹ Subsection (2) has been revised for clarification and to provide consistency with a similar formal valuation exemption for related party transactions.

²⁰² Moved here from the definition of "formal valuation" in the current Rule.

- (d) in determining the fair market value of offeree securities or affected securities,²⁰³ not include in the formal valuation a downward adjustment to reflect the liquidity of the securities, the effect of the transaction on the securities or the fact that the securities do not form part of a controlling interest; and
- (e) provide sufficient disclosure in the formal valuation to allow the readers to understand the principal judgments and principal underlying reasoning of the valuator so as to form a reasoned judgment of the valuation opinion or conclusion.²⁰⁴
- (3) National Policy 48²⁰⁵ *Future-Oriented Financial Information*, does not apply to a formal valuation for which financial forecasts and projections are relied on and disclosed.

6.5 Summary of Formal Valuation

- (1) An issuer or offeror required to provide a summary of a formal valuation shall ensure that the summary provides sufficient detail to allow the readers to understand the principal judgments and principal underlying reasoning of the valuator so as to form a reasoned judgment of the valuation opinion or conclusion.
- (2) In addition to the disclosure referred to in subsection (1), if an issuer or offeror is required to provide a summary of a formal valuation, the issuer or offeror shall ensure that the summary
 - (a) discloses
 - (i) the effective date of the valuation, and
 - (ii) any distinctive material benefit that might accrue to an interested party as a consequence of the transaction, including the earlier use of available tax losses, lower income taxes, reduced costs or increased revenues;
 - (b) if the formal valuation differs materially from a prior valuation, explains the differences between the two valuations or, if it is not practicable to do so, the reasons why it is not practicable to do so;
 - (c) indicates an address where a copy of the formal valuation is available for inspection; and
 - (d) states that a copy of the formal valuation will be sent to any security holder upon request and without charge or, if the issuer or offeror providing the summary so chooses, for a nominal charge sufficient to cover printing and postage.²⁰⁶

6.6 Filing of Formal Valuation

- (1) An issuer or offeror required to obtain a formal valuation in respect of a transaction shall file a copy of the formal valuation
 - (a) concurrently with the sending of the disclosure document for the transaction to security holders; or
 - (b) concurrently with the filing of a material change report for a related party transaction for which no disclosure document is sent to security holders, or if the formal valuation is not available at the time of filing the material change report, as soon as the formal valuation is available.
- (2) If the formal valuation is included in its entirety in the disclosure document, an issuer or offeror satisfies the requirement in subsection (1) by filing the disclosure document.
- 6.7 Valuator's Consent An issuer or offeror required to obtain a formal valuation shall

²⁰³ Paragraph (c) has been changed to only apply to offeree securities or affected securities. A valuation of securities that would be received by holders of offeree securities or affected securities, or by the issuer in the case of a related party transaction, should include adjustments affecting the value of the securities to the intended recipients.

²⁰⁴ Minor drafting changes have been made to subsection 6.4(1) of the current Rule (subsection 6.4(2) of the amended Rule) for clarification.

Replaces "National Instrument 52-101", which was originally proposed as a replacement for National Policy 48, but did not come into force.

²⁰⁶ Paragraph (d) has been changed for purposes of consistency with Item 21 of Form 33 of the Regulation.

- (a) obtain and file the valuator's consent to the filing of the formal valuation and to the inclusion of the formal valuation or its summary in the disclosure document for the transaction for which the formal valuation was obtained;²⁰⁷ and
- (b) include in the disclosure document a statement, signed by the valuator, substantially as follows:

We refer to the formal valuation dated •, which we prepared for (indicate name of the person or company) for (briefly describe the transaction for which the formal valuation was prepared). We consent to the filing of the formal valuation with the Ontario Securities Commission and the inclusion of [a summary of the formal valuation/the formal valuation] in this document.

6.8 Disclosure of Prior Valuation

- (1) A person or company required to disclose a prior valuation shall, in the document in which the prior valuation is required to be disclosed
 - (a) disclose sufficient detail to allow the readers to understand the prior valuation and its relevance to the present transaction;
 - (b) indicate an address where a copy of the prior valuation is available for inspection; and
 - (c) state that a copy of the prior valuation will be sent to any security holder upon request and without charge or, if the issuer or offeror providing the summary so chooses, for a nominal charge sufficient to cover printing and postage.²⁰⁸
- (2) If there are no prior valuations, the existence of which is known after reasonable inquiry, the person or company that would be required to disclose prior valuations, if any existed, shall include a statement to that effect in the document.
- (3) Despite anything to the contrary in this Rule, disclosure of the contents of a prior valuation is not required in a document if
 - (a) the contents are not known to the person or company required to disclose the prior valuation;
 - (b) the prior valuation is not reasonably obtainable by the person or company required to disclose it, irrespective of any obligations of confidentiality; and
 - (c) the document contains statements regarding the prior valuation substantially to the effect of paragraphs (a) and (b).²⁰⁹
- **6.9 Filing of Prior Valuation -** A person or company required to disclose a prior valuation shall file a copy of the prior valuation concurrently with the filing of the first document in which that disclosure is required.²¹⁰
- **6.10 Consent of Prior Valuator Not Required -** Despite section 196 of the Regulation, a person or company required to disclose a prior valuation under this Rule is not required to obtain or file the valuator's consent to the filing or disclosure of the prior valuation.²¹¹

PART 7 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

7.1 Independent Directors

(1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), it is a question of fact as to whether a director of an issuer is independent.

²⁰⁷ Paragraph (a) has been changed to include the requirement to file the consent. This requirement already applies to bid circulars under section 196 of the Regulation.

²⁰⁸ Paragraph (c) has been changed for purposes of consistency with Item 21 of Form 33 of the Regulation.

²⁰⁹ A number of drafting changes have been made to subsections (2) and (3) for clarification, including clarification that the exception in subsection (3) is for disclosure of the contents of the valuation, not of the valuation's existence.

²¹⁰ The section has been changed to clarify that duplicate filings of the valuation are not required if the valuation is disclosed in a material change report and an information circular.

²¹¹ New. The consent was expressly not required in former Policy 9.1, and obtaining the consent is often impractical or impossible.

- (2) A director of an issuer is not independent in connection with a transaction if he or she
 - (a) is an interested party in the transaction;²¹²
 - (b) is currently, or has been at any time during the 12 months before the date the transaction is agreed to,²¹³ an employee, associated entity or issuer insider of an interested party, or of an affiliated entity of an interested party, other than solely in his or her capacity as a director of the issuer;
 - (c) is currently, or has been at any time during the 12 months before the date the transaction is agreed to, an adviser to an interested party in connection with the transaction, or an employee, associated entity or issuer insider of an adviser to an interested party in connection with the transaction, or of an affiliated entity of such an adviser, other than solely in his or her capacity as a director of the issuer;
 - (d) has a material financial interest in an interested party or an affiliated entity of an interested party;²¹⁴ or
 - (e) would reasonably be expected to receive a benefit as a consequence of the transaction that is not also available on a pro rata basis to the general body of holders in Canada of offeree securities or affected securities, including, without limitation, the opportunity to obtain a financial interest in an interested party, an affiliated entity of an interested party, the issuer or a successor to the business of the issuer.²¹⁵
- (3) For the purpose of this section, in the case of an issuer bid, a director of the issuer is not, by that fact alone, not independent of the issuer.

PART 8 MINORITY APPROVAL

8.1 General

(1) If minority approval is required for a business combination or related party transaction, it shall be obtained from the holders of every class of affected securities of the issuer, in each case voting separately as a class.

216

- (2) Subject to section 8.2,²¹⁷ in determining minority approval for a business combination or related party transaction, an issuer shall exclude the votes attached to affected securities that, to the knowledge of the issuer or any interested party or their respective directors or senior officers, after reasonable inquiry, are beneficially owned or over which control or direction is exercised by
 - (a) the issuer;
 - (b) an interested party;

²¹² This criterion has been moved here from the definition of "independent director" in subsection 1.1(1) of the current Rule.

²¹³ The date the transaction is agreed to has been substituted for the date of the transaction in this paragraph and in paragraph (c), because the date of the agreement is considered to be a more appropriate reference date in the determination of director independence.

²¹⁴ The part of paragraph (c) in the current Rule that refers to an anticipated opportunity for the director in the event of a successful transaction has been moved to paragraph (e) in the amended Rule to cover the possibility that the opportunity is made available to the general body of security holders.

A reference to "offeree securities" in the context of equal treatment has been added, and a reference to the opportunity to obtain a financial interest in a successor to the business of the issuer has been added to the portion of the paragraph taken from paragraph (c) in the current Rule.

²¹⁶ Subsection 8.1(2) of the current Rule has been removed, as it is not strictly necessary in light of the Rule's interpretation of "class", which includes a series. Also, each series should vote separately even if all series receive identical treatment in the transaction, since the different attributes of a series may warrant different treatment.

²¹⁷ These words have been moved here from paragraph (b) of this subsection (which is subsection (3) in the current Rule), because the qualification applies to other paragraphs of the subsection as well.

- (c) a related party of an interested party, unless the related party meets that description solely in its capacity as a director or senior officer of one or more entities that are neither interested parties nor issuer insiders of the issuer;²¹⁸ or
- (d) a joint actor with a person or company referred to in paragraphs (b) or (c) in respect of the transaction.
- **8.2** Second Step Business Combination²¹⁹ Despite subsection 8.1(2), the votes attached to securities acquired under²²⁰ a formal bid may be included as votes in favour of a subsequent business combination in determining whether minority approval²²¹ has been obtained if
 - (a) the security holder that tendered the securities to the bid was not a joint actor with the offeror in respect of the bid,
 - (b) the security holder that tendered the securities to the bid was not, as a result of a transaction with, or negotiation directly or indirectly involving, the offeror or a joint actor with the offeror
 - (i) a direct or indirect party to any connected transaction to the formal bid, or
 - (ii) entitled to receive, directly or indirectly, in connection with the formal bid
 - (A) consideration per security that was not identical in amount and form to the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of offeree securities of the same class,
 - (B) a collateral benefit,
 - (C) consideration for securities of the issuer if those securities were neither equity securities nor employee stock options, or
 - (D) consideration for securities of a class of equity securities of the issuer if the issuer had more than one outstanding class of equity securities, unless that consideration was not greater than the entitlement of the general body of holders in Canada of every other class of equity securities of the issuer in relation to the voting and financial participating interests in the issuer represented by the respective securities;²²²
 - (c) the business combination is being effected by the offeror that made the formal bid, or an affiliated entity of that offeror, and is in respect of the securities of the same class for which the bid was made²²³ and that were not acquired in the bid;
 - (d) the business combination is completed no later than 120 days after the date of expiry of the formal bid;
 - (e) the consideration per security that the holders of affected securities would be entitled to receive in the business combination is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as the consideration that the tendering security holders were entitled to receive in the formal bid;²²⁴ and

²¹⁸ Paragraphs (b) and (c) have been shortened to reflect the changes to the definition of "interested party" as it applies to related party transactions in the amended Rule. Paragraph (c) has been further changed to increase the categories of persons who are not disenfranchised in a minority vote, on the basis that the conflict of interest issue the Rule is intended to address is not applicable or is not of sufficient significance for those persons to warrant their disenfranchisement.

²¹⁹ The title of the section has been changed from "Multi-Step Transactions" for purposes of consistency with the corresponding formal valuation exemption.

²²⁰ "Acquired under" replaces "tendered to".

²²¹ "The requisite" preceding "minority approval" has been removed.

Paragraphs (a) and (b) in the amended Rule replace paragraph (a) in the current Rule. The exclusion for a joint actor has been added, and revisions have been made to harmonize with the changes to the definition of "interested party" as it applies to a business combination in the amended Rule. The application of clause (D) is discussed in subsection 2.1(2) of the amended Companion Policy.

²²³ Minor drafting change to clarify that the formal bid need not have been for all outstanding securities of the class.

²²⁴ Subparagraphs (d)(i) and (d)(ii) in the current Rule have been condensed into paragraph (e) in the amended Rule.

- (f) the disclosure document for the formal bid
 - (i) disclosed that if the offeror acquired securities under the formal bid, the offeror intended to acquire the remainder of the securities under a statutory right of acquisition or under a business combination that would satisfy the conditions in paragraphs (d) and (e),²²⁵
 - (ii) contained a summary of a formal valuation of the securities in accordance with the applicable provisions of Part 6, or contained the valuation in its entirety, if the offeror in the formal bid was subject to and not exempt from the requirement to obtain a formal valuation,
 - (iii) stated that the business combination would be subject to minority approval,
 - (iv) identified the securities, if known to the offeror after reasonable inquiry, the votes attached to which would be required to be excluded in determining whether minority approval for the business combination had been obtained,
 - identified each class of securities the holders of which would be entitled to vote separately as a class on the business combination,
 - (vi) described the expected²²⁶ tax consequences of both the formal bid and the business combination if, at the time the bid was made, the tax consequences arising from the business combination
 - (A) were reasonably foreseeable to the offeror, and
 - (B) were reasonably expected to be different from the tax consequences of tendering to the bid, and
 - (vii) disclosed that the tax consequences of the formal bid and the business combination may be different if, at the time the bid was made, the offeror could not reasonably foresee the tax consequences arising from the business combination.

PART 9 EXEMPTION

9.1 Exemption - The Director may grant an exemption to this Rule, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.

Revised version of subparagraph (e)(i) in the current Rule, to more specifically describe the disclosure requirement regarding the offeror's intent to acquire the securities not acquired in the bid.

²²⁶ "Expected" has been inserted, in recognition that the tax consequences cannot be stated with certainty. Similarly, the reference to known tax consequences has been removed from clause (A) of this subparagraph and from subparagraph (vii).

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION COMPANION POLICY 61-501CP TO ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 61-501 INSIDER BIDS, ISSUER BIDS, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART TITLE

- PART 1 GENERAL
 - 1.1 General

PART 2 INTERPRETATION

- 2.1 Equal Treatment of Security Holders
- 2.2 Joint Actors in Take-over Bids
- 2.3 Director for Purposes of Section 1.2 Liquid Market
- 2.4 Direct or Indirect Parties to a Transaction
- 2.5 Amalgamations
- 2.6 Transactions Involving More than One Reporting Issuer
- 2.7 Redeemable Preference Shares
- 2.8 Previous Arm's Length Negotiations Exemption
- 2.9 Connected Transactions

PART 3 MINORITY APPROVAL

- 3.1 Meeting Requirement
- 3.2 Special Circumstances

PART 4 FORM 33 DISCLOSURE

- 4.1 Insider Bids Form 33 Disclosure
- 4.2 Business Combinations and Related Party Transactions Form 33 Disclosure

PART 5 FORMAL VALUATIONS

- 5.1 General
- 5.2 Independent Valuators

PART 6 ROLE OF DIRECTORS

6.1 Role of Directors

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION COMPANION POLICY 61-501CP TO ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 61-501 INSIDER BIDS, ISSUER BIDS, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1 **General -** The Commission regards it as essential, in connection with the disclosure, valuation, review and approval processes followed for insider bids, issuer bids, business combinations and related party transactions, that all security holders be treated in a manner that is fair and that is perceived to be fair. In the view of the Commission, issuers and others who benefit from access to the capital markets assume an obligation to treat security holders fairly, and the fulfilment of this obligation is essential to the protection of the public interest in maintaining capital markets that operate efficiently, fairly and with integrity.

The Commission does not consider that the types of transactions covered by Rule 61-501 (the "Rule") are inherently unfair. The Commission recognizes, however, that these transactions are capable of being abusive or unfair, and has made the Rule to address this.

This Policy expresses the Commission's views on certain matters related to the Rule.

PART 2 INTERPRETATION

227

2.1 Equal Treatment of Security Holders

- (1) Security Holder Choice The definitions of business combination, collateral benefit and interested party, as well as other provisions in the Rule, include the concept of identical treatment of security holders in a transaction. For the purposes of the Rule, if security holders have an identical opportunity under a transaction, then they are considered to be treated identically. For example, if, under the terms of a business combination, each security holder has the choice of receiving, for each affected security, either \$10 in cash or one common share of ABC Co., the Commission regards the security holders as having identical entitlements in amount and form, and as receiving identical treatment, even though they may not all make the same choice. This interpretation also applies where the Rule refers to consideration that is "at least equal in value" and "in the same form", such as in the provisions on second step business combinations.²²⁸
- (2) Multiple Classes of Equity Securities The definitions of business combination and interested party, and the provisions on second step business combinations in section 8.2 of the Rule, refer to circumstances where an issuer carrying out a business combination or related party transaction has more than one class of equity securities. The Rule's treatment of these transactions depends on whether the entitlements of the holders of one class under the transaction are greater than those of the holders of the other classes in relation to the voting and financial participating interests in the issuer represented by the respective securities.

For example: An issuer has outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares carrying one vote per share, and Multiple Voting Shares carrying ten votes per share, with the shares of the two classes otherwise carrying identical rights. Under the terms of a business combination, holders of the Subordinate Voting Shares will receive \$10 per share. For the Multiple Voting shareholders to be regarded as not being entitled to greater consideration than the Subordinate Voting shareholders under the Rule, the Multiple Voting shareholders must receive no more than \$10 per share. As a second example: An issuer has the same share structure as the issuer in the first example. Under the terms of a business combination, Subordinate Voting shareholders will receive, for each Subordinate Voting Share, \$10 and one Subordinate Voting Share of a successor issuer, carrying one vote per share. For the Multiple Voting shareholders to be regarded as not being entitled to greater consideration than the Subordinate Voting Shareholders to be regarded as not being entitled to greater consideration than the Subordinate Voting Share, \$10 and one Subordinate Voting Share of a successor issuer, carrying one vote per share. For the Multiple Voting shareholders under the Rule, the Multiple Voting shareholders must receive, for each Multiple Voting Share, no more than \$10 and one Multiple Voting Share of the successor issuer, carrying no more than ten votes per share and otherwise carrying no greater rights than those of the Subordinate Voting Shares of the successor issuer.

²²⁷ Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of the current Companion Policy have been removed. Section 2.1 is covered by the definition of "director" in section 1.1 of the amended Rule. Section 2.2 does not add materially to the definition of "freely tradeable" in the Rule.

²²⁸ New. Reflects Commission staff's current interpretation.

²²⁹ New. Reflects Commission staff's current interpretation.

- (3) Related Party Holding Securities of Other Party to Transaction The Rule sets out specific criteria for determining related party and interested party status. Without limiting the application of those criteria, a related party of an issuer is not considered to be treated differently from other security holders of the issuer in a transaction, or to receive a collateral benefit, solely by reason of being a security holder of another party to the transaction. For example, if ABC Co. proposes to amalgamate with XYZ Co., the fact that a director of ABC Co., who is not a control block holder of ABC Co., owns common shares of XYZ Co. (but less than 50 per cent) will not, in and of itself, cause the amalgamation to be considered a business combination for ABC Co. under the Rule.²³⁰
- (4) Consolidation of Securities One of the methods that may be used to effect a business combination is a consolidation of an issuer's securities at a ratio that eliminates the entire holdings of most holders of affected securities, through the elimination of post-consolidated fractional interests. Where this or a similar method is used, the security holders whose entire holdings are not eliminated are not considered to be treated identically to the general body of security holders under the Rule.²³¹
- (5) **Principle of Equal Treatment in Business Combinations -** The Rule contemplates that a related party of an issuer might not be treated identically to all other security holders in the context of a business combination in which a person or company other than that related party acquires the issuer. There are provisions in the Rule, including the minority approval requirement, that are intended to address this circumstance. Despite these provisions, the Commission is of the view that, as a general principle, security holders should be treated equally in the context of a business combination, and that differential treatment is only justified if its benefits to the general body of security holders outweigh the principle of equal treatment. While the Commission will generally rely on an issuer's review and approval process, in combination with the provisions of the Rule, to achieve fairness for security holders, the Commission may intervene if it appears that differential treatment is not reasonably justified. Giving a security holder preferential treatment in order to obtain that holder's support of the transaction will not normally be considered justifiable.²³²
- **2.2 Joint Actors in Take-over Bids -** The definition of joint actor in the Rule incorporates the interpretation of the term "acting jointly or in concert" in section 91 of the Act, subject to certain qualifications. Among other things, the concept is relevant in determining whether a take-over bid is an insider bid under the Rule and whether securities acquired by an offeror in a take-over bid can be included in a minority approval vote regarding a second step business combination under section 8.2 of the Rule. Without limiting the application of the definition, the Commission is of the view that, for a take-over bid, an offeror and an insider may be viewed as joint actors if an agreement, commitment or understanding between the offeror and the insider provides that the insider shall not tender to the bid, or provides the insider with an opportunity not offered to all security holders to maintain or acquire a direct or indirect equity interest in the offeror, the issuer or a material asset of the issuer.²³³

234

2.3 Director for Purposes of Section 1.2 - Liquid Market - Subsection 1.2(3) of the Rule requires a letter to be sent to the Director for purposes of satisfying the liquid market test in certain circumstances. That letter should be sent to the Director, Take-over/Issuer Bids, Mergers & Acquisitions.

235

2.4 Direct or Indirect Parties to a Transaction

(1) The Rule makes references to direct and indirect parties to a transaction in the definition of connected transactions and in subparagraph 8.2(b)(i) regarding minority approval for a second step business combination. For the purposes of the Rule, a person or company is considered to be an indirect party if, for

- ²³² New. Added to provide guidance as to the circumstances in which the Commission might consider exercising its public interest jurisdiction in the context of a business combination.
- Re-titled and revised version of subsection 2.3(1) of the current Companion Policy, to clarify that this interpretation applies to any takeover bid, not just to a bid that is first determined to be an insider bid on the basis of other criteria. Subsection 2.3(2) of the current Companion Policy has been removed, as it is covered in the definition of "joint actor" in the amended Rule.
- ²³⁴ Section 2.4 of the current Companion Policy has been removed, as it is covered by section 1.3 of the amended Rule.
- ²³⁵ Sections 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8 of the current Companion Policy have been removed. Section 2.6 is partially covered by paragraph 4.7 (c) of the amended Rule. The remainder of section 2.6 and all of sections 2.7 and 2.8 are not necessary because the parts of the current Rule to which they relate have been removed in the amended Rule.

²³⁰ New. Added for clarification.

²³¹ New. Added for clarification.

example, a direct party to the transaction is a subsidiary entity, nominee or agent of the person or company. A person or company is not an indirect party merely because it negotiates or approves the transaction on behalf of a party, holds securities of a party or agrees to support the transaction in the capacity of a security holder of a party.

- (2) For the purposes of the Rule, the Commission does not consider an entity to be a direct or indirect party to a business combination solely because the entity receives pro rata consideration in its capacity as a security holder of the issuer carrying out the business combination.²³⁶
- **2.5 Amalgamations** Under the Rule, an amalgamation may be a business combination, related party transaction or neither, depending on the circumstances. For example, an amalgamation is a business combination for an issuer if, as a consequence of the amalgamation, holders of equity securities of the issuer become security holders of the amalgamated entity, unless an exception in one of the lettered paragraphs in the definition of business combination if, for example, a wholly-owned subsidiary entity of the issuer amalgamates with a related party of the issuer, leaving the equity securities of the issuer unaffected.²³⁷
- 2.6 **Transactions Involving More than One Reporting Issuer** The characterization of a transaction or the availability of a valuation or minority approval exemption under the Rule must be considered individually for each reporting issuer involved in the transaction. For example, an amalgamation may be a downstream transaction for one party and a business combination for the other, in which case the latter party is the only party to whom the requirements of the Rule may apply.²³⁸
- 2.7 Redeemable Preference Shares The Commission is aware that often in business combinations, the consideration takes the form of redeemable preference shares, which are immediately redeemed for cash. The Commission is of the view that the preference shares in this circumstance are equivalent to cash for the purpose of determining whether the consideration is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as other consideration, and for the purpose of determining the required subject matter of a formal valuation under section 6.3 of the Rule.²³⁹

2.8 Previous Arm's Length Negotiations Exemption

- (1) For the purposes of the formal valuation exemptions based on previous arm's length negotiations in paragraph 3 of subsection 2.4(1) and paragraph 3 of subsection 4.4(1) of the Rule for insider bids and business combinations, respectively, the arm's length relationship must be between the selling security holder and all persons or companies that negotiated with the selling security holder.²⁴⁰
- (2) The Commission notes that the previous arm's length negotiations exemption is based on the view that those negotiations can be a substitute for a valuation. An important requirement for the exemption to be available is that the offeror or proponent of the business combination, as the case may be, engages in "reasonable inquiries" to determine whether various circumstances exist. In the Commission's view, if this requirement cannot be satisfied through receipt of representations of the parties directly involved or some other suitable method, the offeror or proponent of the transaction is not entitled to rely on this exemption.

²³⁶ Section 2.4 is new and has been added for clarification.

Replaces section 2.9.0f the current Companion Policy and reflects Commission staff's current interpretation. Subsection 2.9(1) has caused some confusion as to the Rule's treatment of amalgamations generally, particularly in the context of an amalgamation of arm's length parties where there is a collateral benefit. Subsection 2.9(2) may be confusing to readers, as the related party transaction requirements of the Rule do not apply to amalgamations that are business combinations. Subsection 2.9(3) is covered by section 2.6 of the amended Companion Policy and the amended Rule's treatment of downstream transactions. Subsection 2.9(4) is not necessary, as the amended Rule does not make reference to reorganizations.

²³⁸ New. Added for clarification and partially adapted from subsection 2.9(3) of the current Companion Policy.

²³⁹ Revised version of section 2.10 of the current Companion Policy. The changes, which reflect current practice, broaden the scope of the interpretation beyond second step business combinations.

²⁴⁰ The first two sentences of section 2.11 of the current Companion Policy have been removed, as they are covered by the definition of "arm's length" in the amended Rule.

241

2.9 Connected Transactions

- (1) "Connected transactions" is a defined term in the Rule, and reference is made to connected transactions in a number of parts of the Rule. For example, subparagraph 2(c) of section 5.5 of the Rule requires connected transactions to be aggregated, in certain circumstances, for the purpose of determining the availability of the formal valuation exemption for a related party transaction that is not larger than 25 per cent of the issuer's market capitalization. In other circumstances, it is possible for an issuer to rely on an exemption for each of two or more connected transactions. However, the Commission may intervene if it believes that a transaction is being carried out in stages or otherwise divided up for the purpose of avoiding the application of a provision of the Rule.²⁴²
- (2) One method of acquiring all the securities of an issuer is through a plan of arrangement or similar process comprised of a series of two or more interrelated steps. The series of steps is the "transaction" for the purposes of the definition of business combination.²⁴³
- (3) An agreement, commitment or understanding that a security holder will tender to a formal bid or vote in favour of a transaction is not, in and of itself, a connected transaction to the bid or to the transaction for purposes of the Rule.²⁴⁴

PART 3 MINORITY APPROVAL

- **3.1 Meeting Requirement -** The definition of minority approval and subsections 4.2(2) and 5.3(2) of the Rule provide that minority approval, if required, must be obtained at a meeting of holders of affected securities. The issuer may be able to demonstrate that holders of a majority of the securities that would be eligible to be voted at a meeting would vote in favour of the transaction under consideration. In this circumstance, the Director will consider granting an exemption under section 9.1 of the Rule from the requirement to hold a meeting, conditional on security holders being provided with disclosure similar to that which would be available to them if a meeting were held.²⁴⁵
- **3.2 Special Circumstances -** As the purpose of the Rule is to ensure fair treatment of minority security holders, abusive minority tactics in a situation involving a minimal minority position may cause the Director to grant an exemption from the requirement to obtain minority approval.²⁴⁶

PART 4 FORM 33 DISCLOSURE²⁴⁷

- **4.1 Insider Bids Form 33 Disclosure -** Form 32 of the Regulation (the form for a take-over bid circular) requires for an insider bid, and subsection 2.2(2) of the Rule requires for a stock exchange insider bid, the disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation, appropriately modified. In the view of the Commission, Form 33 disclosure would generally include, in addition to Form 32 disclosure, disclosure for the following items, with necessary modifications, in the context of an insider bid:
 - 1. Item 10 Reasons for Bid
 - 2. Item 14 Acceptance of Bid
 - 3. Item 15 Benefits from Bid

²⁴¹ Section 2.13 of the current Companion Policy has been removed, as the term "collateral benefit" has been given a more descriptive meaning as a defined term in the amended Rule. Additionally, the factors that Commission staff may take into account in reviewing an application for an exemption from a provision of the Rule regarding collateral benefits may not necessarily be the same, or be given the same weight, as in the case of a similar application for an exemption from subsection 97(2) of the Act. The policy considerations that come into play as between the two types of application are not identical, in light of their differences in the consequences that flow from the granting or non-granting of the requested relief.

Revised version of section 6.1 of the current Companion Policy, including the title, to reflect changes in the amended Rule.

²⁴³ New. Added for clarification.

New. Added for clarification.

New. Reflects current practice.

²⁴⁶ Shortened version of section 3.1 of the current Companion Policy.

The title of Part 4 has been changed in light of the removal of sections 4.2 and 4.3 of the current Companion Policy, as discussed in the next note.

- 4. Item 17 Other Benefits to Insiders, Affiliates and Associates
- 5. Item 18 Arrangements Between Issuer and Security Holder
- 6. Item 19 Previous Purchases and Sales
- 7. Item 21 Valuation
- 8. Item 24 Previous Distribution
- 9. Item 25 Dividend Policy
- 10. Item 26 Tax Consequences
- 11. Item 27 Expenses of Bid
- **4.2 Business Combinations and Related Party Transactions Form 33 Disclosure -** Paragraphs 4.2(3)(a) and 5.3(3)(a) of the Rule require in the information circulars for a business combination and a related party transaction, respectively, the disclosure required by Form 33 of the Regulation, to the extent applicable and with necessary modifications. In the view of the Commission, Form 33 disclosure would generally include disclosure for the following items, with necessary modifications, in the context of those transactions:
 - 1. Item 5 Consideration Offered
 - 2. Item 10 Reasons for Bid
 - 3. Item 11 Trading in Securities to be Acquired
 - 4. Item 12 Ownership of Securities of Issuer
 - 5. Item 13 Commitments to Acquire Securities of Issuer
 - 6. Item 14 Acceptance of Bid
 - 7. Item 15 Benefits from Bid
 - 8. Item 16 Material Changes in the Affairs of Issuer
 - 9. Item 17 Other Benefits to Insiders, Affiliates and Associates
 - 10. Item 18 Arrangements Between Issuer and Security Holder
 - 11. Item 19 Previous Purchases and Sales
 - 12. Item 20 Financial Statements
 - 13. Item 21 Valuation
 - 14. Item 22 Securities of Issuer to be Exchanged for Others
 - 15. Item 23 Approval of Bid
 - 16. Item 24 Previous Distribution
 - 17. Item 25 Dividend Policy
 - 18. Item 26 Tax Consequences
 - 19. Item 27 Expenses of Bid
 - 20. Item 28 Judicial Developments
 - 21. Item 29 Other Material Facts

22. Item 30 - Solicitations

248

PART 5 FORMAL VALUATIONS

5.1 General

- (1) The Rule requires formal valuations in a number of circumstances. The Commission is of the view that a conclusory statement of opinion as to the value or range of values of the subject matter of a valuation does not by itself fulfil this requirement.²⁴⁹
- (2) The disclosure standards for formal valuations in By-laws 29.14 to 29.23 of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada and Appendix A to Standard No. 110 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Business Valuators each generally represent a reasonable approach to meeting the applicable legal requirements. Specific disclosure standards, however, cannot be construed as a substitute for the professional judgment and responsibility of the valuator and, on occasion, additional disclosure may be necessary.
- (3) An issuer that is required to obtain a formal valuation, or the offeree issuer in the case of an insider bid, should work in cooperation with the valuator to ensure that the requirements of the Rule are satisfied. At the valuator's request, the issuer should promptly furnish the valuator with access to the issuer's management and advisers, and to all material information in the issuer's possession relevant to the formal valuation.²⁵⁰ The valuator is expected to use that access to perform a comprehensive review and analysis of information on which the formal valuation is based. The valuator should form its own independent views of the reasonableness of this information, including any forecasts, projections or other measurements of the expected future performance of the enterprise, and of any of the assumptions on which it is based, and adjust the information accordingly.
- (4) The disclosure in the valuation of the scope of review should include a description of any limitation on the scope of the review and the implications of the limitation on the valuator's conclusion. Scope limitations should not be imposed by the issuer, an interested party or the valuator, but should be limited to those beyond their control that arise solely as a result of unusual circumstances. In addition, it is inappropriate for any interested party to exercise or attempt to exercise any influence over a valuator.
- 251
- (5) Subsection 2.3(2) of the Rule provides that in the context of an insider bid, an independent committee of the offeree issuer shall, and the offeror shall enable the independent committee to, determine who the valuator will be and supervise the preparation of the formal valuation. Although the subsection also requires the independent committee to use its best efforts to ensure that the valuation is completed and provided to the offeror in a timely manner, the Commission is aware that an independent committee could attempt to use the subsection to delay or impede an insider bid viewed by the committee as unfriendly. In a situation where an offeror is of the view that an independent committee is not acting in a timely manner in having the formal valuation prepared, the offeror may seek relief under section 9.1 of the Rule from the requirement that the offeror²⁵² obtain a valuation.
- (6) Similarly, in circumstances where an independent committee is of the view that a bid that has been announced will not actually be made or that the bid is not being made in good faith, the independent committee may apply for relief from the requirements of subsection 2.3(2) of the Rule.²⁵³

²⁴⁸ Sections 4.2 and 4.3 of the current Companion Policy have been removed. Although these sections do not use mandatory language, they could be construed, for practical purposes, as prescriptive, which is not the role of policy statements. The subject matter of these sections is addressed in other securities law instruments and accounting rules.

²⁴⁹ Minor drafting change to the second sentence of the subsection to clarify the interpretation's direct bearing on compliance with the Rule.

²⁵⁰ The first part of subsection (3) has been changed to incorporate subsection (5) of the current Companion policy and to clarify the subsection's application to insider bids.

²⁵¹ Subsection (5) in the current Companion Policy is incorporated in subsection (3) in the amended Companion Policy.

²⁵² "Offeror" replaces "issuer".

²⁵³ Subsections (6) and (7) in the current Companion Policy (subsections (5) and (6) in the amended Company Policy) have been changed slightly to reflect the addition of subparagraph 2.3(2)(c) to the amended Rule, regarding the independent committee's obligation to act in a timely manner.

- 254
- **5.2** Independent Valuators While, except in certain prescribed situations, the Rule provides that it is a question of fact as to whether a valuator (which for the purposes of this section includes a person or company providing a liquidity opinion) is independent, situations have been identified in the past that raise serious concerns for the Commission. These situations, which are set out below, must be assessed for materiality by the board or committee responsible for choosing the valuator, and disclosed in the disclosure document for the transaction. In determining the independence of the valuator from an interested party, relevant factors may include whether
 - (a) the valuator or an affiliated entity of the valuator has a material financial interest in future business under an agreement, commitment or understanding involving the issuer, the interested party or an associated or affiliated entity of the issuer or interested party;
 - (b) during the 24 months before the valuator was first contacted for the purpose of the formal valuation or opinion, the valuator or an affiliated entity of the valuator
 - (i) had a material involvement in an evaluation, appraisal or review of the financial condition of the interested party, or an associated or affiliated entity of the interested party, other than the issuer,
 - (ii) had a material involvement in an evaluation, appraisal or review of the financial condition of the issuer, or an associated or an affiliated entity of the issuer, if the evaluation, appraisal or review was carried out at the direction or request of the interested party or paid for by the interested party, other than the issuer in the case of an issuer bid,
 - (iii) acted as a lead or co-lead underwriter of a distribution of securities by the interested party, or acted as a lead or co-lead underwriter of a distribution of securities by the issuer if the retention of the underwriter was carried out at the direction or request of the interested party or paid for by the interested party, other than the issuer in the case of an issuer bid,
 - (iv) had a material financial interest in a transaction involving the interested party, other than the issuer in the case of an issuer bid, or
 - (v) had a material financial interest in a transaction involving the issuer other than by virtue of performing the services referred to in subparagraphs (b)(ii) or (b)(iii); or
 - (c) the valuator or an affiliated entity of the valuator is
 - (i) a lead or co-lead lender or manager of a lending syndicate in respect of the transaction in question, or
 - (ii) a lender of a material amount of indebtedness in a situation where the interested party or the issuer is in financial difficulty, and the transaction would reasonably be expected to have the effect of materially enhancing the lender's position.²⁵⁵

PART 6 ROLE OF DIRECTORS

6.1 Role of Directors

- (1) Paragraphs 2.2(3)(d), 3.2(1)(e), 4.2(3)(e), 5.2(1)(e) and 5.3(3)(f) of the Rule require that the disclosure for the applicable transaction include a discussion of the review and approval process adopted by the board of directors and the special committee, if any, of the issuer, including any materially contrary view or abstention by a director and any material disagreement between the board and the special committee.
- (2) An issuer involved in any of the types of transactions regulated by the Rule should provide sufficient information to security holders to enable them to make an informed decision. Accordingly, the directors should disclose their reasonable beliefs as to the desirability or fairness of the proposed transaction and make useful recommendations regarding the transaction. A statement that the directors are unable to make or are not making a recommendation regarding the transaction, without detailed reasons, generally would be viewed as insufficient disclosure.

²⁵⁴ Subsection 5.1(8) of the current Companion Policy has been removed. National Instrument 52-101 did not come into force.

²⁵⁵ Some drafting changes have been made to section 5.2, particularly in the introductory words, to increase clarity and reduce repetition.

- (3) In reaching a conclusion as to the fairness of a transaction, the directors should disclose in reasonable detail the material factors on which their beliefs regarding the transaction are based. Their disclosure should discuss fully the background of deliberations by the directors and any special committee, and any analysis of expert opinions obtained.
- (4) The factors that are important in determining the fairness of a transaction to security holders and the weight to be given to those factors in a particular context will vary with the circumstances. Normally, the factors considered should include whether the transaction is subject to minority approval, whether the transaction has been reviewed and approved by a special committee and, if there has been a formal valuation, whether the consideration offered is fair in relation to the valuation conclusion arrived at through the application of the valuation methods considered relevant for the subject matter of the formal valuation. A statement that the directors have no reasonable belief as to the desirability or fairness of the transaction or that the transaction is fair in relation to values arrived at through the application of valuation methods considered relevant, without more, generally would be viewed as insufficient disclosure.
- (5) The directors of an issuer involved in a transaction regulated by the Rule are generally in the best position to assess the formal valuation to be provided to security holders. Accordingly, the Commission is of the view that, in discharging their duty to security holders, the directors should consider the formal valuation and all prior valuations disclosed and discuss them fully in the applicable disclosure document.
- (6) To safeguard against the potential for an unfair advantage for an interested party as a result of that party's conflict of interest or informational or other advantage in connection with the proposed transaction, it is good practice for negotiations for a transaction involving an interested party to be carried out by or reviewed and reported upon by a special committee of disinterested directors. Following this practice normally would assist in addressing the Commission's interest in maintaining capital markets that operate efficiently, fairly and with integrity. While the Rule only mandates an independent committee in limited circumstances, the Commission is of the view that it generally would be appropriate for²⁵⁶ issuers involved in a material transaction to which the Rule applies to constitute an independent committee of the board of directors for the transaction. Where a formal valuation is involved, the Commission also would encourage an independent committee to select the valuator, supervise the preparation of the valuation and review the disclosure regarding the valuation.
- (7) A special committee should, in the Commission's view, include only directors who are independent from the interested party. While a special committee may invite non-independent board members and other persons possessing specialized knowledge to meet with, provide information to, and carry out instructions from, the committee, in the Commission's view non-independent persons should not be present at or participate in the decision-making deliberations of the special committee.

²⁵⁶ The reference to corporate law has been removed.